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COMMISSIONER NORMAN HUI:  Good afternoon.  I’m Norman Hui, the chair of the Commission on Asian Pacific Islander American Affairs.  I will be chairing this hearing today, and I want to thank you for joining us this afternoon.
First, I want to welcome the new Hmong refugees to California and thank them for their participation.  I also want to especially thank Senator Ortiz, who chairs the Senate Health and Human Services Committee, and Assemblymember Judy Chu and the members of the Asian Pacific Islander Legislative Caucus for  co-sponsoring today’s hearing.

This year is the commission’s  first year of operation.  It was clear that the Hmong refugee resettlement would be an unusual priority for the commission.  By holding this hearing today, we hope to inform the elected officials, policymakers, and service providers of the needs and unique challenges of this population.
I would now like to introduce some members of the APIA Commission who are here today.  To my left is David Kim, vice chair, from Los Angeles.  To my right is Alexis Wong, our treasurer.  We’re supposed to have one more person coming, but maybe she got tied up in the traffic.  And also, we have Ann Nguyen.  She’s in the back somewhere.
At this time, I ask our co-sponsors—Senator Ortiz and Assemblymember Chu—to help welcome you.

Senator?

SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ:  Let me thank Chairman Hui for opening up this hearing.  And let me welcome all of you that are here today.  I’m very pleased to be a part of a very important hearing, and I’m grateful for the opportunity to work with my colleagues.  Assemblymember Chu has been a leader in a number of policy areas, but there’s probably no stronger chair of the API Caucus to be a part of this discussion.
This is the first opportunity we’ve had to work with the commission directly.  I was a big supporter of Mr. Nakano’s AB 116 that created the commission, and I’m pleased that the commission is taking on this important issue of the Hmong refugee resettlement issue.

The purpose of the hearing today is to make sure that we are doing what we need to do to extend a welcome, as well as a helping hand, to the Hmong community.  I believe that it’s an important welcome to all immigrants and refugees.  But more importantly, with the unique challenges of this community and our next wave of transition, it is essential that we contemplate how government should work on their behalf.

We’re also here today, quite frankly, to pay tribute to the special circumstances of the Hmong community.  Let me just say I am honored that we have some of the elders here who are able to participate by way of simultaneous translation equipment.  We are so grateful to you.  You were a friend and ally to this country at a very difficult time, and you were a loyal and faithful friend.  I don’t know that all Americans understand this unique role; the suffering that your families faced, the challenges in your communities, and the outcome of not a lot of respect and not a lot of assurance that your lives would be better in this country.  I fear that you did not always enjoy the same degree of loyalty from our country.  In a small way, this hearing is our way of saying “thank you” and honoring you for the work that you did for our country as well as your own.  Because of that debt that we owe you, we want to make sure that the newest Hmong are welcomed here and that we do all that we can do to ease your transition to this country.
A hearing such as this requires a great deal of assistance, and I want to extend special thanks to the Sacramento Bee for donating copies of the special insert, “The Leftover People.”  If you haven’t gone through your folder and pulled out this section, I think it’s one of the best pieces.  It gives you an understanding of this incredible community.

I also want to thank the Sacramento City Unified School District for making available the translation equipment.  It’s the reason I requested that we do this under the auspices of our committee and thereby allow the management of the translation materials for those who have a better understanding of this hearing in their native language.  We are accommodating that.
With that, I want to allow my colleague, Assemblymember Chu, to provide some welcome comments.  And again, I look forward to the presentation and, hopefully, some policy recommendations that come out of this.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER JUDY CHU:  Thank you so much, Senator Ortiz.

I am so pleased that the Asian Pacific Islander Caucus has been able to work hand in hand with the Asian Pacific Islander Commission and the Senate Health and Human Services Committee in putting on this hearing.

First of all, I must really commend the Asian Pacific Islander Commission for tackling this issue.  This is its first year of operation, but also, this is the very first hearing held by the commission.  It’s so commendable that they have taken on this very timely issue as its first subject.

I also want to acknowledge Senator Ortiz for her outstanding leadership in health and human services, but also for her continued support and commitment to the Asian Pacific Islander community.  I have to say that it’s no accident that she is here today and has stepped forward to be so visible on this issue.

We know that the history of immigration of Asian Pacific Islanders to the United States has been a difficult one, with many of our earliest immigrants experiencing great prejudice and discriminatory laws.  But now that we have an established Asian Pacific Islander population, we want to take the opportunity to extend a helping hand and to be able to make sure that our newest arrivals from the Hmong community have a much smoother transition.
Hmong refugees have overcome such tremendous odds in arriving in this new homeland.  Despite having lived in harsh conditions, refugees have proven to be very resourceful people.  Nonetheless, in this country they’ve experienced such a different culture, with sharp contrasts, to the one that they left behind.  There have been generational conflicts, culture conflicts, as well as suicides amongst the youngest of people.

We in California must be especially proactive since nearly a third of the Hmong population live in California; that is, over 65,000 people.  Most who arrived over twenty years ago have established communities in Fresno, Sacramento, Stockton, and Merced.  They’ve had a very positive and significant effect on the local economy and culture, contributing greatly in terms of their skills, resources, and vitality.  In fact, in just a generation, they have emerged from an agrarian society, from the remote hills of Laos, to becoming homeowners, business entrepreneurs, teachers, professionals, and health workers.

But we want to make sure that we help our newcomers and we learn the lessons of those who came before them.  We know that there will be demands and challenges on the education, healthcare, housing, and social service systems in local communities.  We want to take this opportunity today with this hearing to understand the needs and the demographic characteristics of our newly arrived Hmong population so that we can be better prepared for the challenges.
The caucus is committed to working with the commission and the community in supporting these efforts.  I think that with proper planning and resources, we can make this transition a very successful one.
COMMISSIONER HUI:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz and Assemblymember Chu.

Is Assemblymember Nakano here?  No?

At this point, I’d like to introduce our commission’s two advisors.  Warren Furutani is from the Speaker’s office, and Pam Chueh is from the caucus office.  On behalf of the commission, we want to thank both of them for their valuable advice.

We have a lot to cover during the hearing, so I ask the panelists to be mindful of the time that has been allocated to them.  I want to briefly explain the agenda before I direct your attention to Senator Ortiz.

At this time, I’d like to ask you to please turn off your pager and cell phone, or put them in a silent mode.  

Senator Ortiz and Assemblymember Chu have graciously agreed to help moderate our panels today.  Senator Ortiz will moderate the first two panels of speakers, and Assemblymember Chu will moderate the final panel and the public comments.  I will substitute for any of the members who have to leave early for other business.  I will conclude the hearing with closing remarks.

Senator Ortiz?

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Dr. Hui.

Let me invite the panelists participating on our first panel to please come forward—and if the sergeants could assist them on the use of the mikes.  And let me let the public know that this first panel is addressing the topic of:  “Who are the Laotian/Hmong and why the U.S. government opened a refugee resettlement/family reunification program?” here.  Our speakers today are:  Doua Thor, who is the deputy director of the Southeast Asia Resource Action Center, as well as Lao Her, who is a Hmong refugee, to give us a refugee perspective, and Jamal Al-Fakhouri, who is the regional director of the International Rescue Committee and joint chair of VOLAG.
So, I believe it’s appropriate to begin with Doua Thor as our first speaker.  And I apologize for not pronouncing the names appropriately.

MS. DOUA THOR:  Thank you.

As a former refugee and now an American citizen, speaking to you all today regarding resettlement of Hmong refugees from Thailand represents a full circle filled with emotion and excitement.

I was born in Laos, escaped to Thailand, lived in Ban Vinai refugee camp, and came to the United States with my own family, fleeing persecution because my father was a Hmong soldier fighting for the United States.  Never did I think that someday I would have the opportunity to sit in front of you to tell the story and prepare for a new wave of Hmong refugees.

My name is Doua Thor, and I currently serve as the deputy director of the Southeast Asia Resource Action Center, also known as SEARAC.  Based in Washington, D.C., SEARAC is a national nonprofit refugee organization managed primarily by and for Americans with heritage in Cambodia, Laos, and Vietnam.  SEARAC advances the interests of the Southeast Asian community through leadership development, capacity building, public policy advocacy, and community empowerment.

For this opportunity I would like to thank the Commission on Asian and Pacific Islander American Affairs, the Senate Health and Human Services Committee, and the Asian Pacific Islander Legislative Caucus, as well as Senator Ortiz, Assemblyperson Chu, and Dr. Hui.  This hearing is the first of its kind in any of the states and shows your commitment to the successful integration of the Hmong refugees from Wat Tham Krabok.

In addition, I’d like to thank all the local community-based organizations, allies of, and the local Hmong community for your continuing support and investment in this new community.

People from the Southeast Asian countries of Cambodia, Laos, and Vietnam constitute the largest group of refugees ever to build new lives in the United States.  Nearly all Hmong entered the U.S. as refugees or as relatives of refugees at various times after the end of the Vietnam War.  The Hmong have a unique history with the United States and began to relocate to this country in 1975 after fighting alongside the United States, rescuing downed American pilots, and gathering intelligence for America’s military forces during the Vietnam War.  

At the end of what is now known as the “Secret War of Laos,” the American-supported South Vietnamese government succumbed to the military pressures of their Communist neighbors to the north.  The Hmong were then targeted for persecution and had to leave their home country for fear of losing their lives.  Many fell victim to the genocide that ensued after the takeover.  Desperate families fled by the thousands on foot, by boat, or, if they were lucky, on the few U.S. planes that returned for them.
Following the war, hundreds of thousands of Hmong fled Laos for refugee camps in Thailand.  The majority were resettled in countries throughout the world, such as the United States, Australia, French Guyana, Canada, and France.  In 1992, the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees closed Ban Vinai, the largest of the refugee camps.  For fear of repatriation, thousands of these remaining refugees later found relative sanctuary in Wat Tham Krabok, a Buddhist temple in central Thailand.  Approximately 15,000 Hmong refugees now live on the temple grounds.  Others have since left the temple and now live in the margins of Thai society without access to Thai citizenship or the possibility of integration into that country.  Many inside the temple grounds, as well as outside of them, still possess the documentation of refugee status they obtained in refugee camps.

After years of uncertainty, on December 18, 2003, the U.S. government announced that it would offer the option of refugee resettlement in the United States as a durable solution for those living at Wat Tham Krabok.  In addition, while this population is being processed as refugees, the Wat Tham Krabok temple area is not designated as an official UNHCR-recognized refugee camp and therefore does not receive traditional aid resources such as food and water.
Before the announcement and even now, these refugees continue to exist in impoverished and vulnerable circumstances.  Without access to Thai citizenship, they lack full rights in that country, are often victims of exploitation, and remain there only under the temporary permission of the Thai government.  Since the end of the Vietnam War in Laos in 1975, these remaining Hmong refugees have been trapped in a country that has repeatedly restated its unwillingness to fully integrate them.
Currently, the entire area of Wat Tham Krabok has been fenced off by barbed wire, guarded by Thai military who allow minimal access to the temple grounds.  The area is divided into four sections, with section leaders who disseminate information and report to the Thai military.  Of the 15,000 in the camp, 74 percent of the population are under the age of 25.  Water, food, education above a junior high equivalency, and medical care must be purchased.  Malnutrition and inadequate healthcare are prevalent.  For a population with limited mobility and access to wages, these basic resources are difficult to sustain.

The majority of the population grew up in the Thai refugee camps and have had some exposure to Thai, English, and Hmong literacy.  However, they lack fluency in any of the languages due to the lack of resources and isolation.  After the Wat Tham Krabok area was surrounded by Thai military, opportunities for the residents to work greatly decreased.  Since the resettlement began, only a limited number of residents have been allowed to work outside of the Wat, mostly as migrant farmers or contractors.  None of these workers are permitted to go beyond the limits of the Saraburi province—more than a thirty to one-hour drive outside of the Wat.  Beyond that point, they can be arrested as a result.  Work opportunities are limited, and fewer people are allowed to work.
Despite these obstacles, the Hmong have continued to be industrious and resourceful.  As migrant farmers, they show up at around 2 to 3 a.m. daily to get onto pickup trucks to go to farms to pick vegetables and earn wages.  Residents make anywhere between 80 to 150 baht per day (2 to 3 dollars).  Families who have made all these small wages support as many as ten people.  Even for those who cannot leave the Wat, both men and women make paj ntaub—traditional Hmong tapestry and needlework.  It is said by observers that they often sew until every minute of daylight has gone and then next in open fire of small lamps.  These pieces of paj ntaub are then sold for money.
While lacking an opportunity to experience education fully, the young do have minimal exposure to American society through the Internet and the interactions with relatives in the United States.  When interviewed, a young girl, fourteen years old, named Pa Houa from the Wat, said she doesn’t want to get married because she wants to go to school in the United States and be independent.  Many of the young are eager to attend school and learn.  

In addition, there are six Hmong Americans who have been hired to assist with cultural orientation and the resettlement process in Thailand.  For the first time, the presence of Hmong Americans as the lead cultural orientation team to prepare these refugees for resettlement has begun a process of integration taught through the lens of former refugees themselves.

The resettlement of the Hmong refugees from Wat Tham Krabok has ignited a fire of energy and support from community members throughout the United States.  The resettlement of these refugees has proven the desire of refugee communities to actively engage in all aspects of democracy, advocacy, philanthropy, coalition building, and activism.

As of October 2004, more than 6,000 people have departed to the United States, with another 9,000 anticipated next year.  These new refugees will have an opportunity to join a community who continue to contribute tremendously to this country.  California is home to Dr. Tony Vang, a professor at CSU, Fresno and a member of Fresno School Board; Paul Lo, board president of the Merced City School Board; Lee Yang and Bao Moua, who defied cultural boundaries to become the first Hmong principal in California and the first Hmong woman vice principal in Sacramento.  The state of Minnesota has elected to their state legislature Senator Mee Moua and Representative Cy Thao.  In addition, both Wisconsin and Minnesota Hmong communities have established Hmong Chamber of Commerce organizations representing Hmong-owned businesses, offering community programs, and providing expertise for up-and-coming entrepreneurs.  
It is the testament of the strength of the refugee resettlement program that these leaders—educated, civically engaged, and proactive—have succeeded, and it is with that potential and more that these new Americans come from Thailand.

Thank you.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your presentation.

I neglected to mention the rules of the presentation, so let me just state those now.  You’re well under your ten-minute allotted time.

Our next speaker is—and now my pronunciation—Lao Her.  For those of you in the public, the presentation will be in Hmong, with simultaneous translation, so bear with us.  I believe that that is what we have asked to allow for.  And we’re going to hold off on questions until the end of the panelists.

With that, let me now introduce and welcome Lao Her.  Welcome.
MR. LAO HER [TRANSLATED]:  Hello.  My name is Lao Her.  I just came from Thailand.  My family has six members.  I came to the U.S. on September 3, 2004.  I would like to share with you a little bit about my experience in Thailand as a refugee.

When we arrived in the Ban Vinai refugee camp, it was in 1979.  While residing in the refugee camps, there were organizations and programs that assisted us.  They provided rations for our family—our children and our wives.  After having resided in the refugee camp, our family moved to the Wat Tham Krabok temple in 1996.  In staying at the temple, there was no assistance for us.  There was no longer any program assistance helping us, and so, we had to learn how to sustain ourselves.
I’m very happy, and I want to thank the U.S. government and everybody who has been involved in this process to bring us here to America.  Since arriving here in the U.S., there’s been program assistance to help us with finding homes and finding food for our families.  There’s been opportunity to provide education for our children as well as healthcare services for our families.  But there’s a couple of things that are also challenging for us; for example, the high rent that we are unable to afford.  And since we’ve also just recently arrived, there’s also an additional challenge in the sense that we don’t speak and understand English.  And thirdly, the fact that we also have not learned how to drive, transportation is also a challenge for us.  We depend on our sponsors or relatives to take us everywhere that we need to go, and also, we rely heavily on the community-based organizations and community workers to help us.  And because we don’t speak the language, it would help us tremendously to have notices sent home to us by the school or programs or other providers, health services providers, to be translated into Hmong.
In conclusion, I want to thank you, thank the U.S. government, and thank my relatives and the sponsors and the community-based organizations that have provided assistance to us.  I am hopeful that you will continue to support us in our success here in the U.S.

Thank you.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, and I am sure that there will be questions after the others give a presentation.  So, I look forward to seeking some more direction from you.

Let me now ask our final speaker—I believe our final speaker—to provide a presentation to the committee.  Please introduce yourself and your organization.

MR. JAMAL AL-FAKHOURI:  Thank you.  Good afternoon.  My name is Jamal Al-Fakhouri, regional director of the International Rescue Committee in the San Jose and Fresno offices.  Before I go on, I want to thank the Senate Health and Human Services Committee and the API Legislative Caucus for holding this hearing and for your involvement and support of refugee resettlement in general in California and specifically the Hmong refugee resettlement this time around.  I want to thank you all and thank your staff for inviting me.
The IRC is what we refer to as a VOLAG, which is short for voluntary agencies.  There are ten voluntary agencies in the United States.  They’re all national organizations.  Some of them are religious-based, and some of them are nonsectarian.  The IRC is a nonsectarian, nonprofit refugee resettlement agency headquartered in New York.  We have about twenty-six offices across the United States; about ten of them in California.  I oversee two of them, in San Jose and Fresno.  Part of the role of the VOLAGs is. . . . actually, we are the agencies contracted by the U.S. State Department’s Bureau of Population, Refugees, and Migration (BPRM), which is a department within the State Department that oversees the national refugee resettlement program.
The refugee resettlement program, as we know it today, has evolved since the days of 1975 when refugees were showing up at port of entry without sponsorship and the U.S. government would put them in, what they called, “temporary housing camps,” such as Camp Pendleton in San Diego where many of the refugees who first entered California lived.  The program changed since the 1981 Refugee Act that was passed by Congress, and they created the Office of Refugee Resettlement as part of the Department of Health and Human Services.  The Department of State’s BPRM oversees the initial, what we call, “R&P,” which is reception and placement phase, which takes up to 90 days from the day the refugees enter the country.  The BPRM is the actual department that provides the consultations with the U.S. Congress and submits, what we call, “presidential determination” to the President to sign every year, around the end of September. 
As we know it today, the refugee program has changed in so many ways, but nonetheless, it’s still been in existence since 1975.  It never stopped.  Refugees have always, since 1975, continued to come.  California was the largest state as far as resettling refugees.  Right now we’re not taking nearly the numbers that California used to take back in the seventies and eighties.  
The way it works, how refugees enter—the Hmong refugees, for example, this time around—is that every year, the President, after consultations with Congress and the State Department, approves a set number—a “quota,” what we call—for the total number of refugees to be resettled.  This year it’s 50,000 refugees allocated by region; 20,000 unallocated by region.  And we have six regions that produce refugees worldwide.  One of them is a Southeast Asian program which traditionally, because of the Vietnamese program, is the largest.  Right now, of the 50,000 allocated by region, about 12,000 of them are from Southeast Asia, about 25,000 from Africa, and then the remaining of the 50,000 is broken down between former Soviet Union, Caribbean, and Latin America and Cuba.  And the Middle East, of course, which is part of the Near East program.
So, as far as California, as we all know now, the Hmong refugees—15,000 of them—have been approved, and about 6,000 of them will be resettled in California.  Why this group?  Because the way it works is that the State Department  identifies. . . . there is a set number—a “priority” system, that they call—and the second one of them is P2 (Priority 2), which is a group of humanitarian concern to the U.S. government.  Currently, there are a number of groups under this category.  The Hmong refugees are one of them.  Somali Bantus, the religious minorities in Russia, and the religious minorities in Iran, for example, make the P2 system for this year.  The other priority which the refugees come under is P3, which is family reunifications.  And under P3 currently, there are 14 nationalities.

So, in Fiscal Year 2004, the State Department identified the Wat population as a group of humanitarian concern to the U.S. government, and therefore, they’re eligible for refugee resettlement.  Under that P2, they’re automatically eligible for refugee resettlement.  In the United States, they only have to clear security and health clearances.  They are interviewed by former INS officers.  And once they’ve been approved—they’ve cleared all the clearances—they automatically are referred to the IOM (which is International Organization for Migration) to do the logistics part of it, give them a free-interest loan, and travel.  
But before all of that happens, one of the ten VOLAGs has to sign a sponsorship form to resettle that refugee.  And if it’s part of a family reunification, such as this group, the refugees who are approved will go to communities where there is a family member who, working with the VOLAG, signs on what we call a “placement form,” which is just a form that says, I want my so-and-so refugee family member to be reunited and live where I live.  It could be Fresno, it could be Stockton, it could be Sacramento.

So, once the VOLAG is working with the refugee families here and the State Department and IOM and the BCIS now, then the refugee arrives.  Once they arrive, the VOLAG is contracted by the State Department to provide services up to 90 days.  We are given $800 per individual in the family:  $400 administrative and $400 in direct assistance to the refugee.  But that’s per family member.  So, a family of five would receive at the time they enter about $2,000 from the VOLAG.  We have 90 days to dispense that money; to either pay it on behalf of the refugee or give it to them to pay for their rent.
The way it works, since this is a family reunification site—meaning that all refugees who enter have family members who are going to help them—we don’t make a payment on their behalf; we give them the $400 per cap, typically within two weeks from the day they enter, and that money is supposed to help them pay for their housing and their food.  But as soon as they enter, they go apply for assistance.  Families with children go and apply under TANF, which is the federal program for welfare, and childless couples and singles would go apply under RCA, which is Refugee Cash Assistance.  With the application for the cash assistance, there is a host of applications that take place at once:  application for Medi-Cal, application for food stamps, and so on and so forth.

Now, one of the biggest challenges as far as challenges—and I know I only have ten minutes, so I’ll make it brief—but once refugees arrive, the VOLAG works in consultation with county officials, with community-based organizations, in trying to ensure successful resettlement.  After the 90 days, it doesn’t mean that the VOLAG abandons the case.  Every VOLAG has one thing in common, which is the reception and placement contract with the State Department.  That ends after 90 days.  But after that, every VOLAG has a host of programs that are either state-funded, county-funded, or federally funded by either Department of Health and Human Services, Department of Justice, or Department of Labor.  Any of these programs that are refugee-specific.  And from there on, the relationship with the refugee continues, depending on what program the VOLAG has to offer and if the refugee enrolls in it or not.  If the refugee decides to enroll in CalWORKs, then they’re working with the county officials directly.  But if they enroll in any other program offered by the VOLAG, then they work with the VOLAGs on issues such as financial literacy, employment, and so on and so forth.

I, myself, got involved in Hmong resettlement early this year before. . . . you know, we were resettling African refugees, former Soviet Union, former Yugoslavia refugees, but for the Fresno office it’s specifically a Hmong resettlement office.  Earlier this year, because I serve on the State Advisory Council on Refugee Assistance—I’m the chairperson.  It’s a government group made up of voluntary agencies, community-based organizations, county officials, and the state program branch within the Department of Community Services of the State of California, as a consultation and communication group, where we discuss issues facing refugee resettlement in California.  Since we opened the office in Fresno, since we opened the office in April, we’ve resettled about 500 Hmong refugees in the Fresno area.  When it’s all said and done, we all know about 6,000 will be in California.  I don’t think that the State Department’s initial statement that all will be here before the end of the calendar year is going to hold true.  We still have about 9,000 to be resettled.  I would anticipate that it will take well into the summer until they bring all refugees from the Wat camp.
Now, the Thai government, one of the reasons, that the other speakers have mentioned, that the Wat camp did not have any assistance—no UNHCR, no USAID, no refugee resettlement organization—it was a decision by the Thai government.  After the closure of the main camp in ’96, after that the Thai government did not recognize the presence of any refugees in Thailand, and therefore, those who were left in the Wat camp did not really have any access to any services.  And that was one of the worst cases of refugee internment ever—that happened this time.
But I’m going to talk locally on a number of issues.  First of all, there was an issue of how the other counties, the smaller counties, did not have refugee resettlement for a number of years and all of a sudden are inundated of all new arrivals, such as San Joaquin County and, to a certain degree, Fresno County because of that number of refugees arriving.  Sacramento County has always been one of the largest counties as far as refugee resettlement in California, so that continued.  But there was a discussion of how to interpret the TANF ruling on refugee assistance:  What refugees are eligible for?  How is it counted?  It was a challenge for a while.  I’m happy to say that now it’s been worked out. 

We have a challenge working with the Social Security Administration in some of these counties because they’re issuing restricted Social Security cards to the refugees, which is not what the law says.  Refugees are entered on an immigrant visa, which means they have to be issued an unrestricted Social Security card.  But some of the Social Security cards that were issued—for example, in Merced—said valid for employment only with INS validation, which is totally against what the law is for refugees.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me interrupt you there because I think it’s really critical.  
Do we have anyone from the County Welfare Directors here?  Did anyone extend an invitation?  It’s Mr. Mecca.  
That issue, I would like clarified.  Assemblymember Chu and I hopefully can get some direction from the County Welfare Directors as to whether or not that policy has been clarified.  We have to find out whether there are other counties that are not clear about what the law is, and we should assist you in that issue there.  

Please continue.

MR. AL-FAKHOURI:  Thank you so much. 

What we found out specifically with the Social Security cards, is once I called the manager of an office of the Social Security Administration and talked to them.  They would have the law written and they would understand what we’re doing, and they said, You are right.  These Social Securities will have to be reissued.  But depending on the employee at that day when the refugee family goes to apply for a Social Security card, some of them might not know that refugees are exempt from that specific; that they’re issued flat out.  So, when we followed up, we were able to correct it, but it keeps coming up every now and then.

The other problem we’ve had is some of the houses for the refugees, that the family rented for the new arrivals, were either too small for the number of people in the family or had some substandard housing issues.  We worked with the family, refugees’ relatives, the community-based organizations, trying to get that straightened out.  But that’s an issue that still needs to be monitored really carefully because the State Department will come to visit these new refugees and do an assessment.  That’s part of what they do.  And based on that, they submit their report to Congress on their findings, and if there is issues of housing, it affects not just refugees for the Hmongs, but over all refugee resettlement nationwide.
SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can you further explain what that means?  How it affects, for example, substandard rental property; large families living in small accommodations.  How does it affect them in terms of their status and their benefits, et cetera?

MR. AL-FAKHOURI:  Well, the way it’s going to work is that the State Department monitors the VOLAG performance.  So, they’re going to come to the voluntary agency and say, Where are the refugees that were resettled under sponsorship in this city?  Where are they living?  They would have a list of them, who are these refugees, and they would ask to go visit them.  So, they go visit them.  If the housing is an issue, a major problem, then the VOLAG, the specific VOLAG, will get an unfavorable review by State Department, and their office in that specific city—the refugee resettlement might be halted in that specific city.  And therefore, the VOLAG will not be able to bring in refugees who have been approved to that city until that issue has been cleared.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, what is the solution?  To do a pre-inspection?  Because this is a housing cost problem, where you have less and less affordable housing, particularly in the Central Valley.  Most of the properties that are available in communities of transition are substandard; they don’t meet code standards.  What is the solution?  Is it increasing the average amount of dollars available per family to then meet the market?  What are your recommendations in that area?
MR. AL-FAKHOURI:  The $400 per cap has not been increased by the State Department for three years.  It was increased in 2001.  Before that it was $350, which is the same level that was in effect throughout the eighties.  The State Department does not really revisit that amount issued to refugees quite often to see if it offers enough assistance for the refugee to be able to afford appropriate housing.  So, if you can work with the State Department and Congress to increase that level of assistance to refugees, that would be of great help.  That would be one major assistance.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  We could maybe consider a resolution asking Congress to do a certain thing, but we certainly have no ability to direct that, unfortunately.  But I would like a little more information on that.  This is a one-time $400 in the transition that generally goes to that first stage of housing.  It doesn’t take care of the long-term, ongoing costs of high rental rates in communities in which. . . . you know, maybe there’s a partnership.  I know we do in Sacramento Housing Redevelopment Agency.  Hopefully, we have a partnership to accommodate and add to that.  But I think there’s a lot of local government reliance and redevelopment agency reliance, probably, in this world of housing needs.  
I have interrupted you, and I neglected to say we probably are just transitioning into questions and answers now for the full panel since you have overextended your time for your presentation and I took you into questions.  If you could wrap up your presentation, then we’ll open it up on questions.

MR. AL-FAKHOURI:  The other challenge would be employment; many of these refugees moving into counties that have high unemployment rates.  That would be a major issue to look into; what programs we could allocate to new arrivals that are centered around employment preparation.

Other problems—not problems but a challenge—is also access to healthcare.  This is a large number of people arriving over a short period of time.  School registration, working with the landlords, working with the community-based organizations, the VOLAGs—all partners involved.  It’s not a challenge, but it’s something that we always have to make sure that it’s up to an appropriate level of consultation between all partners involved to ensure a successful resettlement.

This wraps up my presentation.  Thank you very much.  Sorry I overextended my ten minutes.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  No apologies.  It’s helpful.

Assemblymember Chu.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  Well, for Ms. Thor and Mr. Al-Fakhouri, how does this population of Hmong refugees differ from the first wave of refugees that came?  I know, Ms. Thor, you were describing the fact that many of them are young; like 75 percent are under the age of 25.  Many have experienced malnutrition.  Also, there’s a lack of fluency in all languages, I guess, including Hmong.  So, is this population in more need of help?  That’s what I’m trying to drive out with my question.

MS. THOR:  Actually, I think that the circumstances, not specifically the refugees themselves—although, they are also in a different circumstance—but the entire climate is very different.  So, these refugees per se, for themselves, we won’t know if they will need more, or less, support.  But I think the key thing is that the Hmong community has been in the United States for over twenty-five years now.  There are established community-based organizations and institutions that have actually learned from the refugee resettlement process and will be able to probably better prepare these refugees for resettlement than we ever were in the first wave.

These refugees actually themselves do have access to some American society, so they do have some Internet access.  They do understand that education is an important key.  They will need support services in terms of language.  I mean, that’s going to be a key piece of it.  But they also understand.  We’ve had numerous reports that they want to work and want to be engaged in school and want to be out there as soon as possible.
I remember Ann(?) telling me that some of the families who first came to Sacramento were, like, Well, when can we go to school?
And she’s like, Well, wait, hold on.  We have to get you your paperwork first.  

So, I think that people are really engaged and excited.

This population also has been living in the Wat Tham Krabok area for a long time, so they don’t necessarily have the same. . . . while their family is connected to all of the veterans and the soldiers who fought with the United States, they don’t have the same kind of understanding of the context of it.  The sense of urgency in terms of life and death are different, in different ways.  
And so, I think it’s not necessarily that they will need more services or less, but more that the entire environment is probably more equipped to handle them in terms of resettlement.
ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  Are there lessons from the resettlement process of the first wave that can be learned that can be applied to this wave of refugees?

MS. THOR:  Sure.  I think that some of the key things that we have learned are focusing on the refugee’s strength and skills; so, skills around farming, skills around needlework, skills that allow them to increase their capacity.  I think for the first wave there were many refugees who came in and many of the local entities and government officials did not know what do and often put them into situations where they had no skills.  So, they would often be either in a factory they had no communication skills with or those types of pieces.

Other things are that there have been institutional pieces in different states where local community-based organizations have partnered with local companies or corporations so that there can be translators who can come and mediate and maneuver the system with refugees.

In addition, I think that there are a number of issues that people can work on in terms of having Hmong professionals be engaged, because obviously, there’s a sense of understanding in terms of cultural competency.  That wasn’t there before, when we first came.

MR. AL-FAKHOURI:  If I may—I agree with everything this analyst said.  I need to add one thing now.  The biggest difference this time around is that the first time around, the U.S. government was just resettling the refugees that are coming, and the Hmongs haphazardly were. . . . you know, to different states that were not ready for them.  Refugees were resettled in North Carolina and Washington and whatnot, and then, after a year or two, there was a huge movement between these places and specifically to California as secondary migrants.  When secondary migration takes place, it happens outside the system, so to speak, so that it doesn’t come with the assistance.  The VOLAGs and the RMP grants, at least initially, come with a little bit of money.  When secondary migration takes place, there is none.  So, they just come in, in already impacted communities. 

This time around, although they’re going to heavily impacted communities—you know, like the Central Valley, with high unemployment—nonetheless, they’re going to receptive communities, to friendlier communities, and there are a number of programs now that were not existing the first time around.  For example, the Office of Refugee Resettlement just funded about $1.2 million in grants for social adjustment contracts specifically for the Hmong refugees.  My office in Fresno is a recipient of that.  We are partnering with Lao Family Community of Fresno to offer social adjustment services—mostly on interpretation and translation.  I know many other agencies in the Fresno area and in the Sacramento area, between VOLAGs and community-based organizations.  I’ve received this funding.
SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to interrupt for a moment here because I think we’re running over on time, and I want to make sure that Assemblymember Chu and others that want to ask questions have an opportunity to do so.

COMMISSIONER ANN NGUYEN:  I have a question for Jamal.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me make sure Assemblymember Chu has asked her questions, and Commissioner Hui, please.
COMMISSIONER HUI:  You go ahead first.

COMMISSIONER NGUYEN:  Thank you very much.  This question is for Jamal.

During the first 90 days of arrival, are the families, the refugee families, entitled to apply and receive state benefits?

MR. AL-FAKHOURI:  Absolutely.  Actually, we encourage them to go as soon as they come in, because the money that we give to them is federal assistance.  It’s not really income; it’s a one-time short period.  It’s not a solution.  They’re going to need to pay for their rent once that money runs out.  They’re going to need food stamps, they’re going to need CalWORKs, to enroll in programs, unemployment, DSL.  So, they go to the county government and apply there, and then they’re in the system.  They’re on CalWORKs.  They receive their Medi-Cal insurance, and they access health services.  And even if they don’t have that card, they still. . . . if they need to go to doctors or hospitals, you know, they can go right away.

It should be clear that the California Health Department has allocated additional monies to certain counties that are going to be resettling Hmongs to cover some of the cost of the health assessment and health needs of the new refugees.  So, they are eligible, and they go and apply.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think the question’s been answered, but let me make sure.  Is there a second part?

COMMISSIONER NGUYEN:  No.  Thank you.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Commissioner?

COMMISSIONER HUI:  Jamal, I know there are government and nonprofit programs that help train the new immigrants for vocational jobs and also at the same time to provide education.  Do these programs also apply to the Hmong refugees?

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Anyone that can answer?

MR. AL-FAKHOURI:  I’m sorry.  Can you repeat the question?

COMMISSIONER HUI:  Well, there are programs simultaneously to help educate new immigrants and also provide vocational training at the same time so they don’t have to wait a long time to go out into the employment arena.  Does this program apply to the Hmong?

MR. AL-FAKHOURI:  Absolutely.  All refugees who enter in the State of California.  As I said, if they have children, they enroll under TANF ruling for welfare assistance, and under TANF, they have to be enrolled in a job-related activity.  I think now it is 35 hours, so 20 of it could be ESL, 15 could be VESL, which is vocational around that area and for employment preparedness.  So, they’re eligible for any refugee program that currently exists in California.  The same applies to them.  

I don’t know if I answered your question.

COMMISSIONER HUI:  Thank you.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Ms. Wong?

COMMISSIONER ALEXIS WONG:  This question is directed to anyone that can answer.

Following up on the question that was just asked by Commissioner Hui, is there any current tracking of percentage of the Hmong resettlement community who have been able to access these vocational training or educational access programs?

MR. AL-FAKHOURI:  Is there any tracking as far as numbers?

COMMISSIONER WONG:  As far as percentage numbers during the first wave versus the second wave.
SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, is the question how many that are eligible have actually accessed and utilized programs?  So, what’s that ratio?  Is there data that shows how many are actually able to access the programs that are available?  And did you ask specifically on job training?

COMMISSIONER WONG:  Job training and also education enrollment.

MR. AL-FAKHOURI:  I think county officials will have statistics because they access these programs through whatever county government they are resettled—whichever city.  I don’t know if they have this information readily right now, but I’m sure they will have that information because that’s part of their report.  I’m sorry, I don’t know.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  We can certainly ask the CSAC as well as Mr. Mecca, who represents the counties—certainly before my committee—whether or not we can get the statistics and the data and share that not only with our participants, but with the commissioners and others and the API Caucus, as well as my committee members.  It’s valuable information because it goes to the question of what’s available and what is actually being accessed, and if it’s not accessible, then what are the barriers?  Is it funding?  Is it cultural competency?

Are there other questions?  I have a few questions, but I want to give the opportunity to the others.  Assemblymember Chu, any further questions?

We’ve gone over on time, but this is very valuable, and I think some of the other questions that are going to be raised through the other panels are going to go directly to these issues as well. 

But let me quickly ask—I think I heard from Mr. Al-Fakhouri’s presentation that the amount of dollars and the manner in which they’re offered and are then transitioned, and accessing to services that are specific to the status of the refugee, whether they have children or not, whether it’s job training, whether it’s food stamp assistance, that each step of that process becomes more and more difficult, and the dwindling resources relative to the demand are simply exacerbating the inequity.  And I don’t want to misstate anything.

The challenge that I face is that we. . . . what are our numbers in Sacramento County?  Fifteen thousand—or soon to be 15,000?  

MR. AL-FAKHOURI:  Close to 2,000, I think.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m sorry, what was that?

MR. AL-FAKHOURI:  Hmong refugees coming to Sacramento?
SENATOR ORTIZ:  Of our total existing as well as incoming.

MR. AL-FAKHOURI:  I’m sorry.  

MR. [UNIDENTIFIED]:  About fifteen hundred probably by the end of March, but that’s an estimate.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  But what would that then add to the total in our region?

MR. [UNIDENTIFIED]:  Every year, like this particular year, we’ve resettled from around the world about 2,500 to 3,000 refugees in any given ________.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  What the difficulty is, is the bulk of the population is in the Central Valley, and I think we have a disconnect between the formulas.  I don’t know if these numbers are correct, but the current state formulas that base the number of refugees receiving cash assistance over the last five years I think warrants revisiting and some review.  There’s a disconnect not only from those that are identified as an initial placement, but then the subsequent wave of naturally reuniting with family that doesn’t then bring dollars to the county of their second phase of migration or third phase of joining family members, if they’ve been here before.  So, those numbers do not flow to the county. 

Sacramento currently receives about 27 percent of the refugee population, is what I’ve been provided—and that may or may not be correct—yet only receives 20 percent of the funding.

MR. [UNIDENTIFIED]:  [Inaudible.]

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Well then, we’ll wait.  And then, there seems to be a little bit of a disconnect in, with all due respect to my colleague, L.A. County, which receives about 30 percent of the refugee population and 50 percent of the funding.  So, if you’ll address that and phrase the issue.

I just think that we need to understand the challenge that is faced, particularly with high unemployment rates in the Central Valley, an absence of resources, our rural healthcare systems that are further exacerbated and more problematic. 

You know, Sacramento County has always had horrible numbers in general about our Child Death Review Team.  We’ve had a problem of children in our foster care system highly related to methamphetamine use, not from the Hmong community but in general.  And we began to see this Child Death Review Team a couple of years ago have some outrageous. . . . 50 percent increase to 100 percent increase in the number of children that died in Sacramento County that particular year.  And the blip that we began to see in those two years was, unfortunately, due to our neglect in our mental health system with this community:  a number of suicide/murders of family members, because we were not addressing the underlying challenges of primarily fathers, the caregivers, the providers of their family; their inability to find work and transition the system.  And it was so alarming when I saw, I think it was, a 100 percent increase for two years straight, wholly attributed to the Hmong community and the challenges.  Our mental health system has not addressed that throughout the state but particularly in the communities that have larger populations.

Let me just close with I would hope that out of this discussion, maybe we can meet afterwards with the policymakers to look at partnering, for example, with the California Endowment or California Wellness and some of the other foundations that are funding infrastructure and capacity and planning, particularly in healthcare and underserved communities.  Another source that ought to be addressing this, and I feel is not and should, is the First 5 Commission.  We have far more money particularly in regions that have populations of the Hmong community that ought to be representative of the 0 to 5 challenges of children and newcomers and language needs, whether it’s preschool, whether it’s healthcare.  And I encourage all of us as policymakers, when government doesn’t have the money, to begin looking at philanthropy and the foundations that are addressing this well and to look at those who have resources who may not be addressing new communities that have profound challenges.  That’s just my thoughts initially in this area, and we’ll hear more.

And I apologize for making a statement rather than asking questions.  It’s been very, very helpful.  Please, I encourage you all to continue to listen to the testimony.

I’m disappointed that our Central Valley representatives who were planning to join us aren’t here.  If they are anywhere nearby, I hope that their staff, at least, are participating, and we’re going to be happy to share the tape and the recommendations and the calls to, I think, policy changes with those representatives in the Central Valley particularly.  I think it’s a really compelling policy issue.
Unless there are other questions, let me just thank all of the panelists and encourage you to share and learn from the rest of us.  Thank you for that.

I know we’ve gone over time, so I’m going to ask all of the other speakers to come forward on the second panel.  The second panel addresses the question of:  “How ready is the State of California to receive this new group of refugees?”  The participants on this panel include Dale Shimasaki, CEO of Strategic Education Services; Dr. Ho Tran, who is the president and CEO of Asian & Pacific Islander American Health Forum; Mr. Roy Kim, who is from our local SETA, our Sacramento Employment and Training Agency.  I welcome you.  I certainly used to serve as a SETA member, and we saw the early stages when I was on the council with this.  So, I’m glad you’re in place.  As well as Tammi Wong, Legal Services of Northern California. 
Thank you all.  Let me remind you that you have each been asked to provide ten minutes of testimony, which if you could keep it to eight because we have gone over; then we’re going to penalize you for my talking too much.

So, the first speaker—Mr. Dale Shimasaki—if you would like to begin.  Thank you.

Oh, let me also ask—Mr. Al-Fakhouri, was your testimony in writing?  It appeared that you had written testimony.  Was your testimony in writing?  It wasn’t.  Oh gosh.  I was going to say it was so valuable.  If there’s information you can share with the committee, have the sergeants take that, and we’ll share that with the committee members if there’s anything in writing.  Thank you.  And that goes for all the other panelists.  If you indeed have testimony in writing, share it with us, and we’ll share it with others.

So, welcome, Dale.

MR. DALE SHIMASAKI:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

For the record, my name’s Dale Shimasaki.  I’m the CEO of Strategic Education Services, a lobbying consulting firm that works with a number of school districts and education associations here in Sacramento.  I’ve submitted written testimony, which you should all have a copy of.  I’m not going to repeat that verbatim; I know you have a tight schedule.  I’ll just summarize the more salient points in it.
I think the important point is, I’ve been asked to comment a little bit on the education issues related to the recent entry of Hmong refugees into the state.  As you know, California is a very big enterprise in education.  We have over a thousand school districts and 6 million students in the state.  The budget’s about $40 billion-plus.  Per pupil funding is about $7,000.  There are two basic categories of funding in California.  One is the revenue limit, which the districts receive for every pupil in the state.  That is currently about $5,000 per pupil.  In addition, there’s a litany of categorical education programs which serves special needs and special demands that are needed by certain students.  On page 2 of the testimony, you see a selected listing of those programs.  I’ve listed the larger categorical programs.  There are some 87 state-funded categorical programs.  I only listed about a fourth of those here, and I also listed the federal programs.

The important point to note here is that in relation to the Hmong refugee population, the students will be eligible for some of these funds.  You can’t just go down the list and eyeball it and say, Well, they’re eligible for EIA funding but maybe not ROCPs.  It’s got to be much more specific than that when you take a look at these programs.  By way of example, on page 3, I show you an example of how one categorical program on its face does not appear that it would serve the Hmong refugee community, but when you look at the details of the program, you see indeed that it will be helpful to the community.

Last year in the budget you approved $573 million in funding for instructional materials programs.  There was $333 million, or $53 per pupil, in funding for all students in the K-12 standards-based program.  You approved another $12 per student in the Proposition 20 lottery fund.  And for the first time in the history of California, there was approval of a budget item of $30 million for English learners.
Now, if you take all those resources together, it totals $84 per pupil that districts could receive if they serve Hmong students.  In addition, if a Hmong student were enrolled in what’s known as a high priority school or a low performing school, under legislation that I believe Senator Ortiz worked on several years ago, under the Williams case, the students in those schools will be eligible to receive up to another $105 per pupil.

The point in this example is to show you that these programs on its surface don’t tell you much by their name or title.  Some further analysis needs to be done through all the categorical programs to look at what programs students would be, indeed, eligible for.  

By way of a second example, there are programs in which there will be high demand for services from the Hmong refugee community, but there won’t be funds available.  A good example of that is adult education programs where there’s a high demand for students—adults—who want to take ESL and citizenship courses, but there’s a cap on the funding, and that cap is based on prior years’ enrollments.  Therefore, the entry of new refugees or potential students into the system, they would not be eligible to participate in the program because the funding is capped.

The reason I bring these two examples to your attention is to close with the recommendation on what you should do or what you should think about doing.  My recommendation would be that you should request the state superintendent to convene a workgroup that will consist of the Department of Education staff, Department of Finance staff, those school districts that are likely to serve a high number of Hmong students, and then get representatives of the Hmong community.  Get them together on a working group as soon as possible to just go through the litany of programs that are out here and to find out which ones that those school districts would be eligible for funding.  And just walk through them program by program and try to identify what that district had secured in the way of funding for each program.
I would urge you to do this right away because, if you find that there are a number of programs which there is a funding source available but it’s limited to an enrollment cap or things like that, by January you could come back in here with a report—the report from the superintendent to you folks—and it will give you the ability to introduce legislation, if need be, to make the appropriate corrections.

The other benefits of this recommendation is that you’ll get everyone on the same page right away.  It won’t be this problem that we hear all the time:  Well, the state says we’ve got the money and the district says no; the state told us something else.  And then you’ve got the community groups saying, Well, we were told by the district that there was money; then there wasn’t.  Rather than having this finger-pointing and confusion going on, it’s better to get everyone in the same room, at the same time, to know what the status is of the funding.

As I mentioned earlier, by doing this early and hopefully getting this exercise and task done by early January, it gives you time to know whether you need to introduce legislation for the upcoming session.

The final benefit of this, I think, is it does give the Asian Pacific Affairs Commission, the Hmong community, and others in the Asian community some peace of mind of knowing that there’s some efforts taking place and that this issue is being dealt with.

As a corollary to this recommendation, you may want to have some subsequent meetings; not necessarily hearings per se but maybe meetings that your staff convenes with the interested parties, just to keep abreast of these issues related to education.

I’ll close there just by mentioning, at the back on the attachment, we do have some background information on the number of Hmong students currently enrolled identified by the Department of Education by different counties.  And we also have it as percentage of enrollment.  And on the final table, we just show a little bit of the trend data that the Department of Education has on the number of students that they’ve served since 1998.

That concludes my testimony.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I have a number of questions, but I think I’m supposed to wait until all the panelists, so I will come back to you.  And thank you for your presentation.

The next speaker is Dr. Tran.  Welcome.

DR. HO TRAN:  Good afternoon, Dr. Hui, chair of the Commission on Asian and Pacific Islander American Affairs; Senator Ortiz, chair of the Senate Health and Human Services Committee; Assemblymember Judy Chu, chair of the Asian Pacific Islander Legislative Caucus; and distinguished members of the committees.

My name is Ho Tran, and I am the president and CEO of the Asian & Pacific Islander American Health Forum.  This is a national policy advocacy organization with a mission to bring the highest level of health and wellbeing to Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders.  We work at building coalition sponsorship, and to push forward, it meets issues of the community and to influence for change.

I am here today to present my testimony on Hmong health-related issues.

I am not Hmong but a refugee from Vietnam.  As a physician, I have worked with refugees since 1989, as the coordinator of English as a Second Language refugee program and afterward as the administrator of the state health refugee program at the Illinois Department of Public Health, which was my past life.  I believe that I can testify with confidence about the important and specific health concerns that affect the incoming Hmong refugees from the Wat Tham Krabok in Thailand and provide recommendations.  I will not go back into the logistics about who they are and of the number, as well as the language barrier. 

The refugees rely very much on traditional practices for healthcare:  herbal remedies, spiritual ceremonies, and forms of touching, such as coining.  Illness has either a non-spiritual cause, including harmful exposures to extreme cold—and that’s why they coin, to get the cold wind out—or unsuitable food or drink; or a spiritual cause such as the “loss of souls,” and/or actions or misdeeds that are believed to have offended an ancestor’s spirit.
The special health needs of the incoming Hmong refugees are very numerous.  First, there is the immunization status.  Most of the residents in the Wat were not adequately immunized.  A mass immunization campaign was implemented in May 2004.  At that time, one dose of multiple-dose vaccinations was administered.  So, additional doses would be needed upon resettlement.

The respiratory illnesses.  The Wat is located near to a stone quarry where, it was mentioned before, the Hmong refugees used to work.  The quarry produces dust that results in high numbers of respiratory conditions, and asthma is the most prevalent.  Twenty-five percent of the Hmong refugees have asthma.
In terms of skin conditions, many Hmong refugees suffer from skin conditions.  They might have been treated before coming to the U.S., but it is possible that some still may be infected upon arrival.

In terms of acute ear infection, exams of Hmong at the Wat found that there is high rates of ear infection that result in the high numbers of hearing loss, and this may impact the school as well as the self-dependency of the Hmong refugees in the future.

I mentioned before the malnutrition.  It is a common problem, and it is the major contributor to developmental delays in children 0 to 5 years of age and a diminished immune system.  So, you might see, like, _________ and __________, tuberculosis, in the future if we don’t pay attention to that.  
Hepatitis is now a problem.  Hepatitis due to viruses, such A, B, and C—especially B—are prevalent.  The Centers for Disease Control recommend that upon arrival of Hmong refugees, they be tested for hep B infection and all chronically infected persons be referred for appropriate medical follow-up and counseled about how to reduce the risk of transmission to others.  And it will incur funding for the immunization.  Because as a refugee who helped coordinate that at that time in Illinois, it cost the state lots of money for the immunization/vaccination on hep B.

Talking about HIV/AIDS, which is a very important health issue, the rate of HIV among the Hmong at the Wat is unknown.  However, we all know that the rate among the general population in Thailand is 1,040 cases per 100,000 people.  So, HIV/AIDS is considered as a class A, which is considered an excludable condition for entry into the United States.  But refugees with HIV positive from the Wat are frequently given waivers and are allowed to resettle in the United States.  So, it means that for the clinics, we have to be prepared to receive a lot of refugees with HIV/AIDS disease.

Talking about HIV/AIDS leads me to the STD, which is the transmission diseases, very much on syphilis.  The rate of syphilis among the Hmong is unknown, but all refugees 15 years of age and older will need to be tested—serological testing for syphilis.  And all persons who test positive need to be treated.
Talking about the chronic diseases and the infection, we all know that tuberculosis is very, very prevalent among immigrants and refugees—the foreign-born population.  For the Hmong in the Wat camp. . . . the estimated incidence of tuberculosis in general in Thailand is 141 cases per 100,000 population.  However, the rates in the Hmong is unknown.  Still, we have to be very careful for screening and testing.  All refugees 15 years and older need to have a chest x-ray upon arrival, and less than 15 years of age will be tested depending on history and risk factors.

It might seem unusual for us, but for refugees—being a refugee myself—that parasites is an issue.  Due to the living conditions, the Hmong are at a high risk for parasitic infections.  They were treated for intestinal parasites before they departed, but it is highly recommended that all refugees be tested for parasites regardless of the presence of symptoms upon arrival.

An issue that’s very common in the camp as well in developing countries is scabies.  They receive treatment before entering the country.  However, scabies, as we all know, it is very difficult to eradicate completely, and service providers should be aware of it as a potential issue.

I know that it is very important with oral health that we need to eat right.  Exams of the Hmong at the Wat indicate that 60 percent have serious dental health problems.  Most have never had any dental healthcare, and this results into periodontal diseases, cavities, gingivitis, and calculus and tooth decay.

Very important to women’s health is the reproductive health.  It is very important for everyone to know about some traditional practices during pregnancy that we should be aware of and sensitive to.  Hmong women take medications made from plants to prevent vomiting and nausea, to strengthen the fetus and to prevent miscarriage, and also to provide energy to the baby and themselves.  They are prone to refuse vaginal examinations, particularly if performed by male providers.  A woman requiring a C-section under general anesthesia may have  concerns that her soul will be lost.  After the delivery, it is customary to stay warm for three days post-partum, so not to push any woman to go to take a shower right away.  They eat hot rice and chicken soup with special herbs for 30 days after the delivery and may refuse the hospital diet.  With my experience as refugee pharmaculture, this food is very salty, so it might lead to some problems after post-partum.
Last but not least is mental health.  We heard about the suicide of Hmong in California, in Fresno.  So, for the Hmong group that are incoming now.  As with many other refugee groups, these population of Hmong arrive for resettlement with a substantial health burden secondary to their pre-migration experience, migratory experience, and life in refugee camps.  Infectious and parasitic diseases are associated with pre-migration experiences and exposure to risk factors in the country of origin.  Chronic diseases are associated with pre-migration experiences as well and exposure to risk factors on the host country, which, in this case, it is the intermediary host, Thailand.  Forced displacement and torture constitutes two of the most extreme forms of human stress, with the potential for long-term suffering.  With the experience on the incoming different wave of refugees, and especially since 1975, they have post-traumatic stress syndrome that was not detected right up on arrival but takes ten years or twenty years later.  Mental health problems and some psychiatric disorders can be thought of as linking pre- and post-migration experiences with the experience of migration itself, which is coming over here.

At this time, there is little information (mostly anecdotal) available about the mental health status of the Hmong in Wat Tham Krabok.  Rates of psychiatric disorders and substance addiction are not available, but percentages of diagnosable disorders and level of distress and psychosocial adjustment problems are probably within the range—the typical range that we have.

So, my recommendations first, you know, for providers, for all of us as providers serving the Hmong population—the professional and the Western-trained health professional—there is nine recommendations.

· First, that we need to establish the trust.  
· When assessing a client, include the family and the clan structure.

· Incorporate ideas and suggestions from family members and relevant persons in the individual’s life into assessments and treatment plans.
· Use the holistic approach.  
· Consider the individual as part of the collective whole.  
· Mobilize and work within and with the family’s cultural strengths, indigenous resilience, and traditional or spiritual healers, like shamans, medicine men, or church leader.  
· Avoid demonstrative expression of power and authority.  
· Ask the individual to put feelings in writing during and after counseling or educational sessions because the Hmong do not verbally express their feelings.  You know, like for the Cambodian, they do by dance.  That is how different people express themselves.
SENATOR ORTIZ:  I apologize, but I’m going to ask you to wrap up so we can save time for questions.  If you’d like to conclude.

DR. TRAN:  Yes.  I have two more recommendations.

We are submitting three recommendations that are very concrete.  First, it is to reduce access barriers by ensuring that safety net programs such as Medi-Cal, Healthy Families, and community health centers are available.  
To ensure public services are not denied based on language ability by enforcing and strengthening existing language requirements and funding interpretation/translation services.  
And third, to develop a culturally competent and diverse workforce through provider training, pipeline programs, and working with community-based organizations.

Thank you.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Excellent recommendations; we’ve heard them before.  We’ve supported them.  Unfortunately, we’ve got mostly non-government funding them now.  It’s our challenge in California, but I don’t know that government has done it as well as the philanthropic community has.  So, thank you for those recommendations.
The next speaker is Mr. Roy Kim.  Welcome.  Again, ten minutes.  Everybody’s going over, but I would encourage you to try to keep it below that.

MR. ROY KIM:  Thank you.  I’ll try and be as short and concise as possible.  I’ll probably skip some of the presentation.  I think other presenters have alluded to some of the things I was going to cover already.

I’d like to thank the commission, Mr. Hui, Senator Ortiz, and Assemblymember Chu for allowing me this opportunity to come and talk about the job training and employment opportunities and challenges.  I know Senator Ortiz is very active on the issues that impact immigrants, and for that I’m very thankful. 

For those of you who are not familiar with the Sacramento Employment and Training Agency—and I’ll use the acronym SETA—we’re a joint powers agency of the city and county of Sacramento, and we provide services under a number of federally funded programs, including the Refugee Employment and Social Services programs administered through the Office of Refugee Resettlement at the federal level and the state Department of Social Services at the state level.
I had a presentation with a number of strengths first, but I think since others have mentioned it, I’ll skip some of that.  But I did want to mention a couple specific strengths as I see it, and one is we have a pretty strong existing employment service network, especially in the larger resettlement areas of California.  I think those areas with an established history of resettling refugees have both the experience and a network of linguistically and culturally appropriate employment services available.  There are Hmong mutual assistance associations and community-based organizations that exist, like Sacramento Lao Family and Hmong Women’s Heritage Association—also, CBOs like Asian Resources, SOAR, and Southeast Asian Assistance Center exist as well—to provide services and help these refugees to adjust to life in America.  I think that the refugee program embraces the philosophy that the government dollar is best invested in those communities with organizations that represent those communities that we’re trying to serve.

I think most importantly from the strength side is that these refugees have something special that their predecessors didn’t have, and others have alluded to it, but I want to emphasize that the existing Hmong community in California will be invaluable.  It can provide the support, guidance, and advice on adjusting to life in America.  In Sacramento and in other large resettlement areas, Hmong community task forces have been established, and these are aside from any government-related task force.  These are strictly with members of the Hmong community who volunteer their time to get together.  Their purpose is to establish that there’s a wide safety net cast for these refugees.
I think as a byproduct, Hmong communities are becoming more cohesive and more organized and are gaining support from public and elected officials.  I think this is a good example of that.  And I believe that the preexisting Hmong community will continue to prove that it’s invaluable in the lives and futures of the Wat Tham Krabok refugees.

From the challenges side, they will encounter challenges, as is the case with most refugees.  English language will be a big challenge, so will American culture, and it may limit their ability to access mainstream employment programs.  I think that’s a big issue.  I’d like to point out that the ORR-funded programs, the federal funded programs, do have a time limit established in the regulations, and that’s five years.  
Now, there are other employment and training services available.  I guess the biggest one might be under the Workforce Investment Act.  Those programs and the one-stop centers, those are available.  However, language and culture access may be an issue.

I think the skills and work history of these refugees may not fit with American businesses and American job market.  I think they do have skills and they do have work history, but it may not be the best fit.  I think they will need additional work support.  Transportation and childcare may limit their ability to work, and the current social attitude toward immigration, both in California and throughout the nation, and that may be the result of a prolonged economic downturn, post-9/11 attitudes towards immigration, or other reasons.  Some of them may feel unwelcome as well.

Let me move to the issue that came up before about the limited resources.  Those will present a challenge, I believe.  I think some areas throughout the state, at least initially, when the Wat Tham Krabok refugees began coming in, they received no funding—or limited funding from the Office of Refugee Resettlement.  I think some discretionary dollars from ORR have been provided to those areas.  The reason they didn’t is because the formula allocation processes, they’re based on historical data, and they don’t account for current or anticipated groups of arriving refugees.  In addition, the state formula, the California formula, which is established in the Welfare and Institutions Code (that’s Section 13276, to be precise), it’s based on the number of refugees on welfare, which ignores program performance.  It’s inconsistent with the CalWORKs legislation and principles of welfare reform, and it discourages counties to move refugees off of welfare.  It also encourages creaming, which (quote/unquote) “creaming” meaning programs serving the least-difficult-to-serve refugees; perhaps the ones who have been here the longest and speak English the best; maybe have the best job skills as well.
I think in addition to that there’s a lack of regulatory compliance and oversight of county refugee programs to ensure that services are being delivered appropriately.  I think there are state and county waiver requests of regulatory requirements that lack supporting documentation, justification, or evidence and are summarily reviewed and approved.  I think, in short, the system needs a comprehensive review to ensure that long-term welfare dependency and increased costs to the state and county-funded programs do not become the norm.
I think the point here is, these federal dollars exist for a limited time, period, and they’re provided for the purpose of moving refugees into or toward economic self-sufficiency.  When you don’t follow that strategy, in the long run it runs up the cost to both the state and the county.

As far as my specific recommendations, I have several.  

I would review the Welfare and Institutions Code section with an emphasis on principles of welfare reform, performance accountability, and the emerging needs of new groups of refugees, and a comprehensive review of the county programs that are funded under those formula programs.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Excuse me.  Do you have code sections of the Welfare and Institutions Code that you’d like to share with us?

MR. KIM:  The specific language of the code?

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Which sections of the Welfare and Institutions Code.

MR. KIM:  The specific section would be Section 13276 of the California Welfare and Institutions Code.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Great.  I apologize for interrupting, but I wanted to get that.

MR. KIM:  It was enacted in ’87, amended in 1990, and when the CalWORKs legislation was enacted, it was left unchanged.  We don’t know whether that’s intentional or unintentional.  We think it was unintentional because it requires the use of a formula that’s not consistent with the temporary assistance for Needy Families Act or the California Work Opportunity and Responsibility to Kids Act.

Currently, the federal Office of Management and Budget is conducting a review of ORR’s employment and social service programs to ensure compliance with existing laws and regulations.  I think a similar review of state and county programs would both be timely and appropriate.
Second, I think an emphasis really needs to be placed on language and cultural access to mainstream employment and training programs.  It’s something that we say but maybe don’t implement as well as we ought to.

Number three:  increased incentives for refugees to work and for counties to encourage refugees to work; and increased incentives for employers to hire.

Number four:  increased assistance for small business—Microenterprise Assistance, those types of programs.

I’ll wait until Tammi’s done to answer questions.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much.  You are just under ten minutes, and I appreciate that.

Our final speaker on this panel is Tammi Wong, Legal Services of Northern California.  Welcome.

MS. TAMMI WONG:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz.  Thank you, Commission and Health and Human Services Committee and Assemblywoman Chu and Senator Ortiz, for inviting me to speak today.
My name is Tammi Wong, and I’m a staff attorney at Legal Services of Northern California.  We are a nonprofit legal aid law firm that serves twenty-three counties in Northern California.  Our mission is to assist low-income communities and individuals in creating stable lives for themselves.  In addition to direct representation in the areas of housing, public benefits, education, and some immigration, we also assist community-based organizations and community groups and community economic development projects which will help speed the transition of their community members out of poverty.  This position has allowed me to work closely in the Sacramento Hmong Task Force, and specifically on the Housing Committee, as well as working in the area of education in the north area of Sacramento, creating after-school programs for refugee youth and at-risk Hmong youth.  But today I’m here to speak about housing.
Currently, the burden of locating housing for the new refugees lies on the sponsor families, only of which in California 16.4 percent are homeowners.  So, you’re looking at the majority of sponsor families in rental units looking for rental units for the refugee families.

As the speaker said earlier, the sponsor family does not receive any financial accommodation, but the refugee family receives $400 per person, and they will be eligible, as mentioned before, for CalWORKs and other federal programs.  However, in California, the average rent is $1,197 per month, with a security deposit that’s usually matching the first month’s rent.  So, we’re looking at about $2,200 of start-up costs for these families, not including the cost of furniture, home supplies, food, and clothing.  So, you can see that with the little money that these families initially receive how hard it will be to start living in a new place.

The natural solution is federally subsidized housing programs; most common, the public housing and the housing choice voucher.  Because the Hmong refugee families receive little or no income—will be arriving with little or no income—this seems like the natural choice for where they could live in.  However, I’m sure we’re all very familiar with the federal funding crisis, and most housing authorities have now closed or are closing the waitlist for public housing and the voucher.  And even for families in counties and areas where the waitlists are still open, you’re looking at a five-year wait, and you’re in the thousands in your rank on the waiting list.
So, there’s two situations that sponsor families are finding themselves in now.  One particular situation in Sacramento is a family whose sole source of income is public assistance and SSI, and this family, both the wife and the husband were laid off, but they’re sponsoring twelve relatives and are now providing support, transportation, and assistance in helping their new relatives here adjust to life in the United States.  And all this while the sponsor family is still trying to establish themselves here.
Another story is a Fresno family.  They live in a three-bedroom home, and they will be having thirty relatives moving in with them.

Hmong culture is very family-focused, and these families aren’t looking at their newly arrived family members as burdens.  However, the reality of the situation is that most sponsor families cannot sustain the long-term financial cost of supporting their new family members.

What we’ve seen so far is that some refugee families are using their CalWORKs money to pay for rent, but what happens then is there’s no money for food, medical costs, clothing, and other daily needs.  So, rising rents, as we know, and the shortage of affordable housing is really making it difficult for the new refugees to settle in the United States.

Finally, many Hmong families are uninformed about landlord-tenet law and their rights and responsibilities under federal and California law.  For sponsor families living in rental units, it’s possible for these families to run against occupancy laws and health and safety codes.  Any family involved in an eviction will have a very difficult time relocating, and any sponsor family who’s living in subsidized housing and runs afoul of the occupancy standard will risk losing that subsidy.

So, coming up with some policy recommendations was very difficult for me because it’s very obvious that they would require some sort of funding.  However, some creative solutions that we’ve thought about in our organization and the task force are:

Creating financial incentives—for instance, Prop. 46 bond money—that would encourage impacted counties and cities to guarantee a certain percentage of their housing be affordable housing.  

Also, we could enhance or develop the existing tax credit program or other incentive programs for nonprofit or for-profit developers who will then promise to build affordable housing.
Even though this is a tough one, to look at how the federal and state money is being allocated, exactly what Roy was talking about, and being distributed to the refugee families because of such high start-up costs in terms of finding somewhere to live.
And lastly, to appoint a state refugee housing liaison or even a refugee housing liaison to monitor the impact of the new families in the communities, the effect on the sponsor families, to assist in locating housing resources and connecting with community organizations, and to engage in policymaking and advocacy in the private market for the development and provision of affordable housing in the impacted communities.  And this person could also spearhead a community education effort within the Hmong community itself to prevent violations of housing and health and safety codes.

And I’d like to thank you for your time.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Excellent, excellent testimony.

This is where we go into Q&A.  Assemblymember Chu, do you have some questions?

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  Yes.  Mr. Shimasaki, are there any programs that refugees do not qualify that are in the K-12 system, that they are barred from because those programs are designed to serve existing school populations?
MR. SHIMASAKI:  I’m not sure.  You know, I’m just eyeballing the table here.  For example, on the Targeted Instructional Improvement Grant program, we capped. . . . I don’t know if we allow for increases in enrollment in that program anymore.  So, they may not be able to access that program.  Again, Adult Education is another difficulty, given the cap.  You know, I’d have to sort of eyeball the programs a little bit more carefully to find out, but certainly in the current year, with Adult Education and TIIG, you would have problems trying to access the programs for the students who are coming in this fall.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  And the reason for that would be?

MR. SHIMASAKI:  It’s just the way we designed the formulas and we designed the cap.  The legislative actions didn’t make those caps flexible enough to accommodate for situations such as this.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  I’m just wondering because there was a suggestion that legislation needs to be enacted to ensure that Hmong students in K-12 schools have access to the same programs and services.

MR. SHIMASAKI:  Absolutely.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  I’m not sure where there is a discrepancy right now.

MR. SHIMASAKI:  I think that’s why we made our recommendation to sit down with the state superintendent and go through the programs item by item to find out just which programs there will be difficulty in accessing funding for the current year.  That way everyone can get on the same page and know what kind of legislation would be needed to ensure that these students would get served with these programs.  Because, as you can see from the list, there are a lot of important programs here that address a lot of specific and particular needs that Hmong students may need in different areas.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  So, you’re suggesting that at first we assess it to see.

MR. SHIMASAKI:  Yes.  I think it would be good just to get on the same page with the Department of Education and Department of Finance so we exactly know where we are with regard to some of these programs.

Again, for example, in the Adult Education program, you adopted legislation to try to adjust the cap.  It was a Karnette bill that was introduced, and the governor didn’t sign the legislation.  That still is a problem.  I would imagine that there will be a number of adults who are seeking citizenship who will need ESL services that would want to enroll in those programs but they currently can’t because of the cap.
MR. WARREN FURUTANI:  Excuse me.  Assemblywoman Chu, when I was on the Los Angeles Board of Education and now on the Community College Board, what we find is with caps, the need and the number of students that need to apply for these programs grows and grows but the cap limits.  So, you then have a zero-sum game where you redistribute an existing pie.  And as a result of that, I think it’s going to be very important, whether it’s education, job training, or health, that the ability of the community also to interact with the existing communities that are taking advantage of those dollars so it’s not a competitive situation becomes really important.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  Thank you for that.

Mr. Kim, I wanted to understand this state allocation formula a little bit better.  You’re saying that it’s based on historical data, but how far back does the historical data go?  Is it the previous year, or is it a bunch of years?

MR. KIM:  Well, it’s for the previous five. . . . well, the state Department of Social Services, the refugee and child care programs, they can correct me if I’m wrong, but my understanding is it’s the previous five years, those refugees who are receiving cash assistance, or public assistance, who have entered the U.S. over the last five federal fiscal years, I believe.  But it may be the last five-year. . . . there’s a five-year period though, a previous five-year period.
ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  So, you have to have a five-year history then, determining that formula.

MR. KIM:  That’s my understanding.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  And that formula is set by what entity?  By the state?  By the feds?

MR. KIM:  The formula is actually in state law, in the Welfare and Institutions Code section, which says the state must allocate based on the proportion that the refugees on public assistance bear in each county to the number who are in the state overall.  That’s a very rough summary of what the statute actually says.
ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  So, since it’s historic, you do not have the allocation of funds, the disadvantages, those with a lot of new refugees then, you’re saying.

MR. KIM:  That’s correct.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  Now, you’re saying that some areas receive no refugee employment funding.

MR. KIM:  Not through the federal formula programs.  ORR did release some discretionary dollars, and to my understanding, though, there was no state dollars to those programs.  The counties bear the costs associated with resettling or employment and training.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  And that’s because they don’t have any historic refugee population?

MR. KIM:  That’s one particular one.  If they did, there’s also a threshold.  So, for a county to be eligible to receive federal funds through the formula program, there has to be a minimum threshold, and I believe the state establishes that somewhere in the neighborhood of 500 refugees over the last five years, in that particular area.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  And then, you said there was a lack of performance accountability.  Why are you saying this?  Are there some problems that have arisen?

MR. KIM:  Well, the reason I say that, if you look at the statute, it’s strictly based on the number of refugees on public assistance.  Unlike CalWORKs, for example, or the TANF legislation which provides incentive funds to states and counties that are successful in transitioning public assistance recipients off of welfare, there is no corollary in this particular statute.  It is not performance-based at all.  It’s simply based on how many refugees in your county are receiving welfare assistance.  And the problem is not—
SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can I interrupt you?  I apologize, Assemblymember Chu.  When you say “refugees,” does that overly reflect non-Hmong refugees and therefore the disconnect?

MR. KIM:  Yes.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  I think that needs to be clarified.

MR. KIM:  That’s correct.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, there are far more groups that comprise larger total refugee populations that are covered than the relatively small number of Hmong refugees by region.  So, there’s a disconnect between.

Go ahead.
MR. KIM:  I think now with the resettlement of the Wat Tham Krabok refugees, this issue may be more pronounced than it has been in the past, but this has been an issue for quite some time.
It’s important also to point out that the statute in isolation does not have the negative impact that it would taken together with federal policies.  The federal regulations say that services are limited to individuals who have been in the country less than five years—who enter the country in the past five years.  But they routinely approve waivers of that regulatory provision to counties that resettle large numbers of refugees every year.  So, the counties who are submitting those waiver requests are saying, I would like to serve refugees who have been in my county over five years.  However, at the same time, my county is still resettling a very large number of refugees.

Now, I’m not saying they’re not serving those refugees who are under five years, but the fact is, there are thousands, probably 10,000 in some counties, of refugees who have entered the country over the last five years, and I think it is somewhat irresponsible to have a policy that targets refugees who’ve been in your county for over five years and you’re targeting them at the expense of refugees who have just entered the country, like these Wat Tham Krabok refugees.  They should receive priority of service.  In fact, the federal regulations require that they do receive priority of service.  But because there isn’t a very high degree of oversight or compliance by either the Office of Refugee Resettlement or the state, that doesn’t happen.
SENATOR ORTIZ:  Assemblymember Chu, had you—
ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  Yes, I’m done.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  I know we have a representative from the Department of Social Services that is going to be coming forward in the next panel.  Hopefully, they can clarify some of these questions.

My obvious question is, and I assume that this issue has come up before.  There’s been a request to segregate or aggregate out the Hmong members from the rest of the numbers.  Whether that was feasible or done or disregarded, I think that’s an important question for DSS to respond to, if appropriate.  And if it’s a function of the federal standards, then ought we to be, again by way of resolution, since we can’t mandate the federal government to do anything, maybe just again to see a fairer proportion.  
I’m just struck with the challenge of the Central Valley counties in general.  They’ve got the highest unemployment rates.  They’ve got some of the most fractured or fragile healthcare infrastructure systems anyway, and when we see the new wave of transitions, you know, it further exacerbates the ability help those we should be helping.  And the counties that are struggling for funding and the jobs that are simply not available, that we ought to try to fix this.

I do have a couple of questions, but are there others on the commission? Please.

COMMISSIONER WONG:  My question specifically addresses the housing elements of this panel.  One of the recommendations is for the state to appoint a liaison to identify housing resources.  I’m curious to know if there is among the various refugee services organizations, if there is any outreach effort to not only identify existing resources but also to identify potential new resources from mostly nonprofit developers, who every year does a joint venture with, for instance, the Redevelopment Agency, in creating affordable housing throughout California with both state and federal fundings.  I personally know of a couple of programs that exist in California which monitors these funding allocations towards affordable housing.  However, my suspicion is that these organizations or funding allocation entities may not be aware of the priority needs from these new refugees, and lack of knowledge from them may also impact the availability of either existing or new resources for these new refugees.
MS. WONG:  My office is in Sacramento, and through the Housing Task Force here, we have mobilized the nonprofit developers to look at what is going to be available in our area, and that’s why my recommendation is that there be a statewide liaison, because it’s very centered on what’s available in each particular county that’s been affected by the refugee resettlement.

What we’ve been finding with the nonprofit developers in the Sacramento region is that there aren’t a lot of new developments being built.  I believe there’s two on the runway right now, but one of them, the waitlist filled up already.  So, what you’re seeing is the same problem with federally subsidized housing when you get, in the private market, you get affordable housing.  Again, you have the problem with the waitlists.  And like you were saying, it’s sort of the lag time in information as to who should get priority on the waitlist because of the information coming down the tunnel a little too slow about the refugee resettlement effort.
That’s why it would be important to have someone at the state level monitoring what’s available and providing that information to the developer so that priority can be given to the refugees.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Question?

COMISSIONER DAVID KIM:  This question kind of goes across the board.  What’s interesting is, the data that’s presented is primarily, in some part, formed from people’s experience, but not for the most part, and it’s more of, we have an immigrant or new refugees that have different profiles, if you will, relative to the previous ones.  But it would be interesting to know across the board, across education, across training, health, rent, and whatnot, previous experiences and the level of performance that exist to know what delta exists and seeing in what ways the proposals actually influence that delta.  Meaning that there was previously with the previous resettlement or previous immigration, that there were X, Y, and Z, and to what extent does X, Y, and Z persist and cause these various issues?  And as a result, we have certain issues that we anticipate above and beyond what they experience, but that delta still exists.

But I guess my question—that was more of a comment than anything else—is. . . . the question I have is always to what extent can we leverage. . . . you know, the ideas that I’m hearing in common among the different panelists in this session is the idea of language barriers or language access.  But it seems to be a little more of a side note, in some part, besides the educational piece.  To what extent, since there have been a significant portion of immigration that’s transpired, and not just Hmong but also other ethnicities, to leverage some of the best practices or the findings there and incorporating potentially other ethnicities in this language barrier issue?

I guess this question would go to, in some part, Mr. Shimasaki.

MR. SHIMASAKI:  You want to compare the two experiences of this Hmong?

COMMISSIONER KIM:  Right.  So, the question would be:  To what extent can we leverage current practices or efforts, whether they be community groups or whatnot, in informing and helping solve a potential language barrier, which seems to be a persistent issue across the panelists?

MR. SHIMASAKI:  Well, I don’t have firsthand knowledge about the first wave of refugees and what that experience was like.  There are a lot of people who probably have better information than I would on that. 

But on the general issue of services for English learning students, I dare say that the State of California still has a ways to go on improving services to English learners for all populations, not just for the incoming Hmong refugee population.  If you look at the current assessments and the accountability tests that we’ve been undertaking for the last four or five years, English learners have been progressing, but they haven’t been progressing as well as other populations, and we do have a long way to go on that in that regard. 

So, there’s still a lot of work to do in providing services to those students, to have an appropriate staff development for teachers, to have instructional materials that services the needs of English learners.  So, that’s a concern that’s not just an issue with this hearing topic, but it’s an issue with the English learner population in general for K-12 students.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.

DR. TRAN:  I think I would like to talk about the language issue, especially on health, regarding the refugee based on the experience of the refugee.  When they are resettled, they do have a good package on health with interpretation, but it is only in force for a time—six months at most—and then they will be thrown in the mainstream.  The mainstream means that the clinics are not equipped with interpretation; neither translation of written documents.  So, the key for a recommendation, it is how to make that linkage and make the clinics and the health settings be more linguistically appropriate.  There is a Title VI that is based on there’s no discrimination based on race and color and language for any individual to receive appropriate healthcare services.  So, we need more enforcement of this Title VI, which is under the Office of Civil Rights.
SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me interrupt.  I’m going to remind our speakers as well as our participants that we have one panel left.  I believe we have four speakers—or three.  This is Assemblymember Chu’s province, but they are all going to provide testimony for ten minutes.  That will take up the remaining time and not likely allow public comment nor the questions after their panel.  So, I would hope that we keep that in mind.  
Having said that, I’m going to waive the two questions I wanted to provide not only on the health issues but also on the education issues, and encourage, if there’s a way, Dr. Tran, that we can, at some point, try to meet to see what we can do by way of our policymaking authority in the Legislature to try to address these really, I think, acute and significant healthcare challenges that we face.  Number one.

Number two:  Mr. Shimasaki, I look forward to us chatting at some point, either individually or with the commission as well, on your statistics in terms of school districts and counties that are receiving counties essentially and whether or not we can pull representatives from those county offices of education and/or key school districts to accompany us, if we indeed go forward with the recommendation that we assemble a working group with the superintendent, to have the flow of information to go directly to those school districts and those counties.  

I don’t want to take the time now.  I apologize.  We have more valuable testimony, and unless there is some parting comments, let me just say to you that this is an excellent panel.  Your information is incredible, and I wish I could extract more information, but we will call upon you—you’re now experts in your fields—and we’re going to use all of you.

Last comment, Mr. Kim?

MR. KIM:  I have some written materials that support my presentation.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me make sure we get those to a sergeant.  The sergeant will make sure we have enough copies, and then we’ll make sure every member of the dais here as well as the public has access to it, if they desire to have it.  Maybe we can put it up on our webpage.  Or the commission can put up all the materials on its webpage and have them made accessible.

So, with that, let me thank you all and encourage the next panel to come forward.  And this is now Assemblymember Chu’s province in monitoring.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  If I may call up the third panel on “Government Programs and Community Response.”  If I could please call up Ms. Doua Thor, deputy director of the Southeast Asia Resource Action Center; Charr Lee Metsker, acting deputy director of the California Department of Social Services; and Dr. Tony Vang, professor at CSU, Fresno; and he is also a Fresno School Board member.
Let’s start with Doua Thor, deputy director of the Southeast Asia Resource Action Center.  And I do want to remind you about the time element.  We would like to end on time—4:00—which was the designated ending time of this hearing.  So, if you could keep within your allotted speaking time, I’d very much appreciate it.

MS. THOR:  Sure.  Actually, I’m happy to cut down on my presentation so you guys can all ask your questions too.  I think that’s really important.

Quickly, I’m going to present a little bit on some of what Wisconsin and Minnesota have done to prepare for this population.  I’m in no way or means an expert on Wisconsin or Minnesota but have had interactions with the community there and have an understanding of some of their programs.  So, I’d like to talk a little bit about that.  And then I believe that the rest of the panel is going to talk about what California is doing.
According to the 2000 Census, there are almost 200,000 Hmong living in the United States.  The largest communities reside in California, with a population of 65,000, followed by Minnesota at 42,000, Wisconsin at 34,000, and North Carolina at 7,000.  Throughout these areas, Hmong communities have developed roots, relationships, and community-based organizations—also known as mutual assistance associations—that have been vital to the integration of the Hmong community.
Let me speak a little bit about Minnesota first.  Minnesota is home to the second largest Hmong population in the United States, with most of the population concentrated in the Twin Cities.  The Hmong community in Minnesota is fairly diverse:  professionals in the school systems, health fields, social services, and government.  By the end of December 2004, Minnesota is expected to receive over 2,000 Hmong from Wat Tham Krabok.

As you all may be aware, on February 27, 2004, the St. Paul–Ramsey County in Minnesota sent a delegation to Wat Tham Krabok.  This delegation included Mayor Randy Kelly, as well as representatives from the St. Paul school district, police department, social services, voluntary agencies, and community-based organizations.  They have produced an extensive report.  
I’m also aware that California has also sent its own delegation.
After hearing of the U.S. government’s decision to resettle some 15,000 Hmong refugees from Thailand, Congresswoman Betty McCollum’s office, along with the Council on Asian-Pacific Minnesotans collaborating, invited representatives from all facets of the local community, including local agencies, organizations, and government entities, to meet.  Out of that meeting formed a countywide collaboration known as the Hmong Resettlement Task Force.  One of the purposes of this task force was to share information, cut down on duplication services, and fill in the gaps of where support needed to be added.  In conjunction, the federal elected officials hosted a community forum where they invited representatives from the U.S. State Department and the Office of Refugee Resettlement to answer community concerns.

Realizing the gap in health services and potential needs, the Minnesota Department of Health initiated a project to increase sites with Hmong health professionals who can conduct screenings and health assessments of the refugees.  They actively trained and recruited Hmong doctors and nurses in the community.

The department of education initiated a one-year project where children from these refugee families could do intensive bilingual training in separate classrooms.  This project provided for an English speaker and Hmong-speaking teacher to work with these students together.

To offer easier access of information to the refugees, Minnesota conducted a Hmong refugee resource fair, specifically for the refugees, that included booths from local law enforcement, colleges, and agencies.
Local foundations have created their own network to pool resources to support this new incoming population.  Foundation funds helped support the initial delegation to Thailand and have coordinated efforts to fill in the gaps of support where needed, including more support for anchor families and for mental health services.

I know that there was discussion earlier on how foundations can get more involved.  I did want to commend the California Endowment who does have plans, I believe next month, in which we will be returning to bring some funders together to have a discussion about how they can better work with the community on this process.  So, that may be an area where you all will want to get involved.
In addition, an important key is that voluntary agencies, like IRC from this morning’s panel, and Hmong community-based organizations, such as Hmong American Partnership in Minnesota, have combined efforts.  Normally, the voluntary agency is primarily responsible for the refugee family for the first ninety days.  However, in this round of refugee resettlement, they have directly partnered with a community-based organization to begin that work much earlier so that the community-based organization doesn’t take on after the ninety days but works jointly together.
Wisconsin is home to the third largest Hmong population in the country.  However, the community is much more spread out through the state than Minnesota.  In Wisconsin’s case, this new population is expected to result in more than a tenfold increase of refugees in that state.  Wisconsin is expected to receive over 3,000 of the Hmong refugees from the Wat by April of next year. 

Wisconsin’s federal elected senators have traveled the state, conducting community forums to inform and receive feedback on the situation.  Wisconsin has also created a workgroup led by the State Refugee Coordinator’s office.  This group includes a wide variety of entities, including voluntary resettlement agencies, elected officials, community-based organizations, and local government agencies.

Collaboration is required amongst Wisconsin’s Welfare-to-Work program (known as W-2), W-2 agencies, and local community-based organizations.  This is the first time that both entities had to submit to the State Refugee Coordinator an identical plan to help the new refugees become self-sufficient or in order to receive funds to implement programs.

On July 1, 2004, Governor Jim Doyle of Wisconsin announced the creation of a Special Advisory Hmong Resettlement Task Force.  The task force advises the governor and Secretary Roberta Gassman (of the Department of Workforce Development) on matters relating to the resettlement of the Hmong refugees from Thailand.  The task force is charged with making recommendations on system improvements, best practices, employment connections, housing, citizenship, and access to needed services to successfully integrate this new refugee population into the state.  The task force will serve to support community resettlement efforts and will advise the state agencies on communication strategies and collaboration opportunities.

Finally, at the federal level, both representatives from the Senate and House in California, Wisconsin, and Minnesota have sponsored amendments to increase funding for this population in the appropriations of the Department of Health and Human Services’ budget.  Currently, the House has passed its version on the bill, which includes $15 million for these new refugees.  Congressman Radanovich, from the Central Valley, as well as Congresswoman Betty McCollum, from Minnesota, led that effort.  The Senate has yet to take up the Department of Health and Human Services appropriations bill and expects to do so early next year.

Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  Thank you very much, and thanks for staying within the allotted time as well.

And next we would like to have Charr Lee Metsker, acting deputy director of the California Department of Social Services.

MS. CHARR LEE METSKER:  Good afternoon to the committee.  As you mentioned, I am Charr Lee Metsker of the Department of Social Services.  I assumed the role of the acting Welfare-to-Work deputy about three months ago.  So, because of my ignorance in this topic area, I’ve also brought with me my refugee program bureau chief, Thuan Nguyen, in case we have questions after my presentation that I might not be able to field but she might.
In the capacity that I am in the Department of Social Services, I oversee the public assistance/benefit programs and services that are designed to provide self-sufficiency and personal responsibility for families who are in need of cash assistance and services.  That includes refugee programs, the CalWORKs program, and the Food Stamp Program.  All of these programs are supervised at the state level and administered at the local level through the county offices.

Earlier in the presentations, there was a discussion about how refugees arrive in California, go to voluntary agencies, and then, after a ninety-day period, they then are assimilated into the normal assistance programs that are available in the community.  Part of my programs provide a critical service to refugees in that effort.

So, for example, we have the Refugee Cash Assistance program, and we also have several refugee employment services programs, as well as the CalWORKs program, the Food Stamp Program, that’s available to refugees when they arrive in California, depending on whether or not they meet eligibility criteria.  So, for example, if the refugee is a part of a family with children, then that refugee would be eligible for cash assistance through the CalWORKs program and welfare-to-work services that are provided to any able-bodied individual who is a part of the CalWORKs program.  If that family happens to be a single refugee adult or a childless family, then they would also be eligible to receive refugee cash assistance benefits through the Refugee Cash Assistance program for up to eight months.  Those individuals would also be eligible to receive employment and training services that are provided through the federal government that are targeted for refugees, and it’s the Refugee Employment Social Services program and the Targeted Assistance program.  Those two programs are available in the refugee-impacted counties in this state and provide services to those refugees who are in need of assistance who may not be eligible for other California programs, like CalWORKs and the Food Stamp Program.
Both the Refugee Employment Social Services program and the Targeted Assistance program help refugees prepare for and obtain jobs.  In just this fiscal year, we’ve received about $14.4 million from the federal government to provide to the refugee-impacted counties to provide employment and training services to these refugees, including the Hmong population.

The Refugee Employment Social Services funding is provided to California, and then it is allocated to the counties based on instructions provided in the W&I Code.  I know we talked about that earlier, about how the funds are allocated to the counties.  It’s clearly outlined in the W&I Code that the funding shall be provided to those counties based on the percentage of aided refugees in that county as a percent of the total refugees in all of the impacted counties.  So, that’s a state-driven formula out of state statutory requirements.  I know there might be some issues with the formula, but that’s essentially what directs us in terms of how we provide that money to the counties.
In terms of Targeted Assistance money, this is special funding that supplements the Employment Services money that comes from the federal government, and it’s provided to the top fifty counties in the U.S. in terms of the numbers of refugees that are being resettled in those communities, and it is provided to six counties in California.  So, of our refugee-impacted counties, the top six counties get additional supplemental Targeted Assistance money that’s essentially available to provide employment and training services to those individuals in those counties.

In terms of the Hmong resettlement activities, when California became aware of the resettlement effort that was underway with the U.S. State Department and we learned that a substantial number of those individuals were going to arrive in California, we quickly organized a conference call with all of our impacted counties and a few of the counties that are not refugee-impacted but were expected to receive some of the Hmong arrivals.  We did research about who these folks are, what their educational backgrounds were, what their employment training skills might be, what their health concerns are.  We tried to get a series of information from the State Department about what we could expect from this group of arrivals.  We launched a conference call with all of the impacted counties and the few counties that are going to receive Hmong arrivals but aren’t necessarily refugee-impacted counties, and then we also included the Health Department and the local educational players in that conference call to just sort of get those individuals thinking about how they could strategize locally to be prepared to respond to the new arrivals.  And we particularly paid a lot of attention to those counties who had been involved in the refugee resettlement effort previously with the first wave of Hmong arrivals so that they could sort of give us some of their lessons learned.  And we used that opportunity to heighten awareness in the counties and to get those counties to begin launching local efforts to build a task force and groups to begin preparing for the arrivals.
Additionally, we spent some time talking with our state department peers—the state Department of Health and the California Department of Education—to begin discussions with those entities about what they might expect with the new arrivals and to ensure that they’ve been connected with the State Department in terms of the number of individuals that might show up in California counties and to have them begin discussions with their local entities to ensure that everyone was aware and spending time and energy preparing for this effort.

What we did encounter, however—and I think Mr. Kim mentioned it earlier—is that there were a couple of counties who are going to be receiving Hmong arrivals who aren’t necessarily those counties who receive additional federal dollars to respond to this population.  Merced and San Joaquin are notables in that area.

So, we looked at what could we do, because the formulas are all built on historical data from prior resettlement efforts.  We looked within our department about ways that we could provide some additional funding to those two counties to begin providing some additional services to these new arrivals since they don’t normally receive refugee service money.  Within our department, there was administrative funding that we weren’t able to use in the past couple of years because of our staff reduction efforts.  Because of the staff reduction efforts and the hiring freezes, there was some additional funding that was available that we could then peel off and provide to those two counties to at least jumpstart their efforts at beginning to serve these new arrivals. And then we also worked with those two counties to provide assistance in preparing grant applications for some new money that was available from the federal government that was going to be provided in grants to heavily impacted counties.  We were successful in three counties in California receiving that additional grant money.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  If you could wrap up.  You have about a half a minute left.

MS. METSKER:  Okay.  And so, therefore, we continue our efforts at coordinating and collaborating with all of the various partners in this area, and we’re working with all of the county entities to ensure that they’re sharing translations of various materials so that we can ensure that we’re taking advantage of everyone’s work in this area.  And we also have developed a website that basically summarizes some of the key services that are available for refugee programs, and Hmong specifically, that we would be happy to share with the committee.  
And we are open to hearing any discussions or questions you might have.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  Thank you very much.

And now we will turn to Dr. Tony Vang, professor at CSU, Fresno and a Fresno School Board member.

DR. TONY VANG:  Thank you.

Good afternoon, Dr. Hui, Senator Ortiz, and Assemblymember Chu and the members of the commission.  Thank you for holding this joint informational hearing on Hmong refugees in California.  I will be one of the former refugees who speak here but probably not as clear as your previous presenters.  I have a heavy accent, and probably I don’t pronounce correctly.  But let me share with you some of my experience.  

I’ve been working with the Hmong since 1976.  I came here as an international student.  I stayed in Hawaii for ten years and moved to California for the last twenty-two years.  Some of the presenters who are sitting here and also some of the members who sit here in the audience and many of the Hmong refugee children who came here at the first wave, as Assemblymember Chu asked earlier, became a professional, business owner, and many other careers and are sitting here as examples:  Ms. ________ Lee and Ms. Doua Thor and many other leaders who are sitting here today.
I remember vividly when I went to the airport and picked up My-______ Lee and her family of eight or ten, and I squeezed the children in the back of my Datsun 210 and drove all the way to the apartment—two-bedroom house—and started showing how to use the stove, electricity, hot water, cold water, and now they’re sitting here and advocate for the Hmong refugee community, and I’m very proud of them.

Many of the presenters indicate very clearly what are the needs of the Hmong community and the Hmong new refugees.  Assemblymember Chu asked a question about the difference from the first wave and the new arrivals, and I say yes, there is a lot of difference.  The first wave, they came, they left the country, and when they are here they are homesick.  Some family separation, unprepared, don’t know where they’re going to, with a lot of memory loss, because they used to be the bread winner, high rank in the military, a government official when they came here, and they started from scratch.  It’s a difference.

The new arrival of the Hmong refugees, as you see on your statistics, is aged one month to 24 as 70 percent.  Twenty-four to 64 is 26 percent, and 65 and older is about 4 percent.  You talk about refugees that were born in the camp; have no knowledge of their origin of country.  You’re dealing with kids who have been in the camp for twenty-something years with no schooling background, and they are here.  They are facing different kinds of problems.  I am very concerned.

My concern is about we always, as a government, we always provide the short-term program to solve a long-term problem, and that’s what the problem continues to be year after year.  Of course, we cannot solve all the problems.  And I can give you an example.

As the governing board for the Fresno Unified School District, we figure out many Hmong children are coming to our district.  We figure out the best way how to help these kids before we put them in the regular mainstream classes.  Of course, we don’t have money.  We are facing a budget crisis just like every district in the state, but somehow we figure out to find some money from the general fund and created a new, we call, Academy for New Americans, which is, we want to prepare these Hmong kids to success in the mainstream classes, and that’s where we put them.  At the beginning, we only have a few students—about 20 or 30 students.  Now we have nearly over 300 students in the new center.  And our goal is to prepare them in a short time—maybe six months or a year at the most—and then we can ship them back to the home. . . . we call “home schools.”  And that’s how we do it.
And I’m always worried about helping teach children to succeed in this country.  It’s not very simple.  It’s not very easy.  Education is the key.  We talk about economic self-sufficiency.  If we don’t provide a good tool to educate them, what do they do?  We know that job marketing is not very easy to find in California.

Some of the presenters talked about training services.  We expect them to be in a short-term training and have a long-term job to succeed and become economically self-sufficient.  That is not very simple.  A family of eight, a family of ten, and it takes mom and dad to work and earn the minimum wage to become self-sufficient?  It’s impossible.  Some other presenter indicated that the housing is now the number one issue here in California, and especially in the Central Valley.
I am very concerned about many of the counties and the school districts are not very well-prepared to receive these newcomers, with small help, small program, which is to help them to move and be well-prepared and be more consistent, which we cannot just try the program in the short term and then it is sink or swim.  We want them to swim.  I think we have to have a long-term to help them.  I would talk about two years, three years, or five years to make sure they are marketable.

From back to the first wave of Hmong refugees, during that time, I was one of the case workers and interpreter.  So, I know very well because we had American communities, we had churches, sponsor the Hmong families who came here.  So, they had a lot of help from the American families who actually were established.  These last arrivals were sponsored by their own immediate family as their family reunification, which many of them are unemployed as well.  So, it’s much difficult to assist the new arrival.  We are very lucky to have so many Hmong community-based organizations here in the country playing a very active role to support the new arrivals along with the governmental agencies as well.  And also, the situation is slightly different from the first wave.
I’m concerned about Hmong children involved in gangs very rapidly, very quickly, and _______ the failure of _________.  I’m concerned about teen suicidal issues.  Many Hmong kids got to face that problem.  And that __________ is the Hmong community as well as Americans’ community in this country. 

And I want to suggest some recommendations.  I would say that if the counties were to provide ESL, vocational training services, targeted to the Hmong adult and Hmong youth, in the long term to be more marketable.

Also, provide educational programs for children as well as for adults.  And the state __________________ for the CAT test, the CAT-6, which they _________ refugee in the class ____________________ classroom less than 6 months.  Now we’ve got to test them, see they got to pass the CAT-6.  That is ridiculous.  I think ______________________ education, that they’re looking to these newcomers of who are in the class less than 6 months to give them a test and see how well they do in their academic performance.

And the last one I will say is that they can make all the resources available to the new families, including housing, health, education, and social service, and those materials could be translated into Hmong, English to the Hmong, and make sure the parents who know how to read Hmong are able to read it and understand.

Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  Well, thank you for those insights.  And Dr. Vang, you truly are a role model:  a school board member and an elected official in the Hmong community.  I think that’s really outstanding.

Are there any questions from our panel?

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Madam Chair, are all the panelists done?

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  Yes.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  I have a few questions.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  Senator Ortiz.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Let me also thank Dr. Vang for your compelling testimony but also your transition in an area that is so critical in a district.  I often see talent like that and wish that we could recruit you to come to Sac City Unified.  So, we’ll talk afterwards.  [Laughter.]  Wonderful job, though.

I want to go to the representative from the Department of Social Services.  And I apologize; I was in conversation with my staff on another issue when you gave most of your testimony.  But I want to sort of go back and get an understanding of the good work the department has done and understand the timeline in which this occurred and then go to the question of the existing Welfare and Institutions Code section that defines the term “refugee” broadly that we believe, based on testimony, presents a disconnect between the Hmong population, specifically in terms of where the money is going.  I don’t know if you’re authorized to weigh in on a policy recommendation or whether anyone else that’s here to provide technical assistance can do so.

But first I’d like to get a sense of what was the timeline in which all of the understanding and the collaboration and pulling together the partners in Education and Health Services at the local level and the state level, when all of this occurred.  Number one.

Number two:  Maybe somebody can. . . . if it’s appropriate for the representative—Ms. Metsker?  You’re relatively new to the department, I take it?
MS. METSKER:  No.  I’ve been in the department, just not overseeing the refugee program.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  So, who should walk me through in understanding of what has occurred and when it occurred and whether or not—I think that would be appropriate, Ms. Metsker—whether you believe the Welfare and Institutions Code provision in state law that defines “refugee” broadly warrants a new review and consideration of amendment to be able to extract out the Hmong-specific members so that those dollars can flow to the counties our populations have been living in and then the second wave that we’re anticipating.  You mentioned there was some success in drawing down federal dollars in three counties.  I’d like to know which counties those were.  I’m not going to assume that the Merced and San Joaquin counties that had been underserved, that they were two of the three counties that managed to generate federal dollars because of the department’s actions.  So, if somebody could weigh in on that and articulate those questions.
MS. METSKER:  I’ll respond as much as I can, and then I’ll let Thuan weigh in if I totally miss the boat.

We learned early in the year of December ’03 that there was this possibility of having some new Hmong refugees; although, we didn’t know numbers, their demographics, or any of that information.  So, we began having conversations very early on with all of our refugee-impacted counties about that possibility.
SENATOR ORTIZ:  And what do you consider are refugee-impacted counties?  I missed that presentation.

MS. METSKER:  A refugee-impacted county is a county that. . . . according to the W&I Code, the department is—

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Five hundred and more.

MS. METSKER:  Well, the W&I Code doesn’t give the caseload amount.  It basically says that the department shall determine what a refugee-impacted county is.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, our regs say 500 or more?

MS. METSKER:  Well, originally they said 1,000 or more.  And then with the advent of 9/11 and the closing of the doors for refugees, the threshold got reduced to 500 so that we can continue to provide funding to the impacted counties who already had refugees.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Now, can you tell me what counties those are that meet that threshold?
MS. METSKER:  Thuan?

MS. THUAN NGUYEN:  That’s Alameda County—
SENATOR ORTIZ:  Could you identify yourself for the record?

MS. NGUYEN:  Thuan Nguyen, bureau chief of the refugee programs.

Alameda County, San Francisco, Sacramento, Santa Clara, Contra Costa, Stanislaus, Fresno, Yolo, Orange County, Los Angeles, and San Diego.  Eleven counties total.
SENATOR ORTIZ:  Those are originally our high-impact refugee counties.  Which of those counties would you say actually have large Hmong populations?

MS. NGUYEN:  Sacramento and Fresno.  Those are the only two.  The rest are nonimpacted counties, like Merced, San Joaquin County, Butte County.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, you’re saying San Joaquin is not a high-impact county?

MS. NGUYEN:  Not at this point.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  San Joaquin is not even in this list.

MS. NGUYEN:  That’s correct.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  But Stanislaus is, but you’re saying that it’s not a high-impact county today.

MS. NGUYEN:  Not for the Hmong.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me then ask—Ms. Metsker mentioned that there were three counties that we were able to successfully bring down federal dollars to assist.  Which counties were those?

MS. NGUYEN:  Those are Fresno, Merced, San Joaquin, and Sacramento.  Those are the collaboration from the four counties that successfully requested additional discretionary money from the feds.
SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is that because of the second wave that we anticipate are those three counties?

MS. NGUYEN:  That’s correct.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  If we looked only at the Hmong populations in all of these counties—and this goes to the policy direction of Ms. Metsker.  I’m trying to get a better understanding of this population’s unique needs and whether we can better determine in all of these counties—whether they were the originally impacted or not or the new additionally soon-to-be-impacted counties—whether there may be some indication or willingness by the Administration to consider an amendment to the Welfare and Institutions Code to actually get better information so that we may better serve these counties and the populations in these counties.

MS. METSKER:  You know, I think that this issue has come up before, and we’ve expressed a willingness to entertain any suggestions or ideas.  I can’t at this point, sitting here, give you any official positions on anything, but we’re willing to talk.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think that there’s some value in that, simply because I don’t know that we’ve ever been requested. . . . and certainly, there are members of the Central Valley that are in these impacted counties of both parties that I think might form a really good bipartisan solution that is fair but doesn’t adversely impact other counties by taking away dollars.  But I just think we need to adjust— 

MS. METSKER:  I think there’s an important consideration, though, is that although some counties are not receiving Hmong refugees, they also serve other refugees. 

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Right.  That’s presumed.

MS. METSKER:  So, it’s not just—

SENATOR ORTIZ:  But I think the presentation was that a lot of those larger or other populations had either been here. . . . that there are network systems and funding sources.  You know, I’m sure they’re not overly funded, by any means, but there might be dollars that are actually advantageous that are not flowing to the Hmong community, it appears.  If we can say there are some qualitative challenges in the Hmong population that requires some extraordinary tweaking of the formula—and that’s sort of the policy debate I think we should be having.  I’m certainly happy to entertain that and direction from others who have spoken.  I just wanted to get a profile on these numbers.

Let me also ask—one of the gaps here—and I’m thinking there’s so many others we could have brought to the table here—are the county health officers.  I know you’re not representing Health Services nor do we have the county health officers here, but these healthcare challenges are huge.
MS. METSKER:  In our conversations with the counties, we actually had the county health officers participate.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wonderful.

MS. METSKER:  In that they were involved in the discussions.  And we also got a representative from the state Department of Health Services to also weigh in, in those discussions.  So, we have drawn them into the discussions.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do you have policy recommendations you can share with us that came out of that?  Or is there some document or information that we might find helpful as we determine whether or not to pursue?

MS. METSKER:  What we basically did is we pulled the players together and said, Okay, here’s what’s happening.  Here’s what’s coming. How can you best organize to be prepared for that?  We didn’t really prepare any additional documentation about what happened in those calls.  Although, Thuan, do we have that kind of information about what suggestions came out of that?

MS. NGUYEN:  No.

MS. METSKER:  I’m sure we could pull some of that together.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  If those partners came up with a white paper or a working document, I just think that it’s invaluable.  This is the kind of foundation information that we can go to the Endowment or Wellness with.  I mean, this is the very work they do in communities on health access.  But the issues of TB and HIV, coupled with the obstacles of. . . . well, the cultural competency challenge.  I mean, we have an already overburdened public health system, and these components require the highest level of sensitivity documentation on how to address it, and I just think we’re going to either deal with it at the front end or not deal with it at all and have some real challenges.

MS. METSKER:  I’m sure that the state Department of Health Services probably has had those conversations, and we can probably interact with them.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Great.  I will hold off because I don’t want to monopolize the time, but this has proven to be incredibly helpful.

Mr. Vang, again, thank you for your direction.  Please consider Sacramento a new place to reside.  We could use you in our school district as a leader.  Not to displace anyone else we have.  I would welcome looking at the education models.  I was chatting with my staff, who happens to be a commission member also, that we ought to be looking at the model that you’re using in Fresno Unified to see if it could be replicated in other high-impact school districts to transition these students and give them the extra care.  So, if you would share that with us, we would welcome that as well.

DR. VANG:  I would be glad to, Senator.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I’m going to hold off on questions, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  I just want to ask this one follow-up funding question, which is the fact that Mr. Kim referenced that some counties were asking for waivers to continue funding refugees beyond the five years.  It does seem to me that a general principle that we should be having here is that monies for refugees should go to the newest of the refugees because they’re having the most trouble with their transition.  Is there this waiver for counties that are serving refugees for over five years?

MS. METSKER:  Yes, in fact, there is.  And Thuan, help me out.

MS. NGUYEN:  We did ask for a waiver for the whole State of California, not just any county specifically.  The priority for services is still for refugees who have arrived 60 months or less.  You have to serve them first, by law.  If you have any leftover money, then you are allowed to serve the refugee over 60 months but has not obtained U.S. citizenship yet.  So, it may not apply to Sacramento because Sacramento has a lot of refugee arrivals.  But to other counties who do not have a lot of arrivals, they will have some leftover money, and they have requested that that be able to serve the refugees after 60 months that they are resided here.

So, the priority is still to serve the 60 months or less, and then, if you have any leftover monies, it’s on a case-by-case basis afterwards.
ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  Okay.

Dr. Hui has a question.

COMMISSIONER HUI:  I have a question for Dr. Vang.

Earlier you mentioned this teen suicide.  Is the teen suicide problem among the Hmong refugees a culture shock problem, or is it because of something else, such as hate crime?

DR. VANG:  We don’t know the cause of the teen suicide or issues.  That’s why at this time and point there is now a series of studies about Hmong teen suicide or cases that happened.  Maybe to have a special federal program funded through Fresno Unified School District to work with the teen suicidal issues, as well as working with parents, trained professionals, educators, in how to deal with the Hmong kids who are potentially depressed, and working with them and making sure their families are aware.  
But I believe that it’s the culture.  The culture, sometimes the kids have the tendency to kill themselves. . . . or blame themselves or disgrace the family.  In general, there’s a generation gap between the family and the kid who has actually moved toward being more Americanized, and the parents, they fall behind, and there’s a lack of communication between the younger generation and adults.  So, that’s created a lot of pressure on the kids.  
Also, it’s the peer pressure as well because sometimes the peer pressure and the kids probably move to the wrong direction, which is the parents don’t want to see it that way.  And also, in a lot of Asian culture, the parents have the tendency to dictate what their kids need to be when they grow up.  When they risk their life to come to this country, they want their kids to be successful, and when they risk their life to come to this country and they see their kids move toward a different direction and end up in jail, that’s very, very hard for the parent to take.
COMMISSIONER HUI:  Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  Alexis Wong?

COMMISSIONER WONG:  Ms. Metsker, firstly, I just want you to know that I commend your department for having so many various programs that are dedicated to the refugees.  
In your testimony, you have mentioned that there has been an information gathering process among the various counties—I believe all eleven of them.  I guess the question is:  During this information gathering process, was any of the existing Hmong organizations involved in providing this information that in some cases is not prevalent or hard to identify as part of the findings in, I guess, your policymaking process?  
And secondly, you have mentioned that, as a result of these findings, there are task forces that have been developed to help refugees, communities, and in this case the Hmong communities.  I’d like to know what type of task forces are there, and are they, as part of the policy, I guess, encouraged to work with the various Hmong organizations in better addressing these emerging needs?

MS. METSKER:  In almost every county that we had conversations with who is expecting a significant number of Hmong arrivals, they pulled together a group of locals, including Hmong resettlement organizations and various community-based organizations, including their health officers, including their local school districts, including the county welfare department, and their employment and training providers.  A whole host of individuals were included in their planning efforts, including various Hmong organizations.  I’d say universally in the counties where a large percentage of individuals are going to be participating, they were represented.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  Okay.  I’d like to draw this panel to a close since we actually are fifteen minutes behind the closing of this hearing, if you don’t mind.  If we could thank the panelists for your outstanding presentations, and thanks for imparting this very valuable information to us.

As they are leaving the dais there, now’s the time for public comment, if anybody would like to make a public comment.  If you can come up here, and maybe we can have a little line.  We allocate two minutes each, and if you could sign in with the sergeants.

Okay, it looks like we have four people that are signing up.  Our first commentator may start.
REVEREND SHARON STANLEY:  Thank you.  My name is Reverend Sharon Stanley, and I work as the Hmong Resettlement Housing Task Force co-chair in Fresno, California, and I wanted to speak briefly about the housing realities in the valley.

I want to say first, however, that perhaps rather than having Tony Vang move here to Sacramento, maybe we could clone him and you could have another one because we don’t want to give him up.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let’s not talk about cloning these days.  [Laughter.]

REVEREND STANLEY:  Yes, it’s almost possible.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  That should be the exception to the anti-cloning position, you’re right.

REVEREND STANLEY:  As you know, two years ago—and it was exactly in this month—there began a tremendous housing crisis in the county of Fresno that impacted most especially refugee and immigrant populations.  At that point, I had lived myself for thirteen-and-a-half years in a mostly Hmong community, nicknamed after the refugee camp where all had lived in Thailand.  At that time, at that point, which was Thanksgiving season but not a time for thanksgiving, rent went up immediately 225 more dollars per month and has continued to go up in many instances four and five times beyond that, as well as regulations that have shifted, so that, now, numbered limitations are, in many, many situations, holding individuals back from living in units.

We have over 17,000 folks on housing voucher waiting lists already in Fresno County.  In light of some of these realities, our proposals and our work of the Housing Task Force include working on the following, and we’re requesting these of you:

That we would establish a state resettlement housing task force.  I believe and agree with Ms. Wong that the idea of a liaison is a wonderful one, but to have the different housing task force from the impacted counties work together.

Also, can we get our governor involved through legislative assistance and encouragement?  We would encourage our governor to join with the other four states that have high impacted numbers—Wisconsin, Minnesota, North Carolina—to ask for up to $25 million from housing voucher assistance.

Also, I just want to say that every refugee adult is being asked, when they go to try to find housing—and in Fresno only 31 percent of those who have come as new arrivals have found housing yet.  Everyone is being asked to pay 25 or more dollars as a credit check.  Of course, they’re coming as refugees, not with credit cards.  If there is a way that that could be waived, we would appreciate it.

Thank you.

MS. FUE HOUA THAO:  My name’s Fue Houa Thao.  As part of the Housing Task Force, my position is refugee housing liaison for the city of Fresno.

One of the problems that we’re facing with is housing.  As far as the credit checks, every applicant over eighteen is being charged $18 to $30—the maximum would be $35—as a credit check fee, and they don’t have any source of credit to check.  When they do the credit checks, without credits they’re having to pay double deposits, which is the amount of rent, or to have a co-signer, which they can’t find any that can make three times the amount of rent.  
So, it’s very difficult, and we’re asking to see if we can request for some kind of a waiver to help out the new refugees with the application process and the credit check fee to be waived because they don’t have any credit to check on.  
And also, the issue with the security deposits.  Is there something or funding that we can get together to help with their security deposit?  It’s just too much right now because, when you are moving in there, you have to pay up front the security deposits along with the first month’s rent, and with no source of income and without employment, they’re unable to pay that amount.  So, it’s very difficult with that.  Even with subsidized housing, there’s a waiting period.  And by the time that they actually get into a house, it would be too long of a wait.  They can’t wait two to five years.  It’s just too long for them.  So, is there any way or anything that we can do as far as waiving those criterias for them?
ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  Thank you very much.

MS. JUE VANG:  My name is Jue Vang, and I’m from Fresno, working with the Academy for New Americans, which was mentioned by Dr. Tony Vang.

To answer your question earlier—no, you cannot have Dr. Tony Vang.  He has to stay and remain in Fresno.

I’m the community liaison for that school, and I have two comments.  One is speaking on behalf of the parents, which I work closely with.  I provide a parent workshop, parent education, to these new refugees.  When we share with them about all these standardized tests in California, they have big concerns.  We would like to ask if the committee can see to it that the Hmong refugee students be exempt from these standardized tests for a short period of time.  I know Dr. Tony Vang mentioned it earlier, but I just wanted to second that.

And my second comment is related to the Hmong teen suicide in the Fresno County area, in the 2000-2002 period.  I work as an intern at several schools in Fresno, and there is a big cultural gap, a big generation gap, between the parents and the students, as Dr. Tony Vang mentioned earlier; and also, there is a lack of support from the school system, also a lack of role models and Hmong staff who would provide support to these students.  I believe that that is part of the problem that cause all these Hmong teen suicides among the Hmong population.
Thank you.

MS. NELA REYES LEE:  Good afternoon, everybody.  My name is Nela Reyes Lee, and I represent Girl Scouts of Tierra del Oro.  
I just wanted to let you know that we fully support the commission’s efforts.  Most specifically, this has been a very enlightening educational experience today, most specifically in your efforts of the Hmong refugee resettlement. 
I truly identify with these new arrivals because I, myself, arrived in this country more than fifteen years ago, and I was an adult.  As an adult, I had all these emotions of fear, insecurity, uncertainty about the future.  All these young children that are arriving in our area, we have to make an effort to address their needs, to help them develop their self-potential, to become productive citizens of the future, and that’s what girl scouting is all about, is to help these girls grow strong in mind, body, and spirit.  As Dr. Tony Vang has said, we want to provide them the skills, the values, in a fun-friendly atmosphere, of course, but we want them to do that so that they become successful, productive citizens in our community.

I just wanted to let you know, as well as the local community leaders of organizations who are today, that we are more than happy to establish communications, partnerships, and relationships.  We would like to be one of the community partners and to be a part of the families of these new arrivals and see how we can help these girls have a smoother transition as they arrive in this country.

Thank you very much for this opportunity.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER CHU:  Thank you.

I understand that Dr. Norman Hui has some closing comments for this hearing.

COMMISSIONER HUI:  Thank you.

This is a very, very informative afternoon.  I wish we had more time.  Many thanks to our expert witnesses.  We have learned a great deal about the Hmong and the resettlement efforts.

In the commission’s annual report to the Legislature and the governor this December, we will outline these challenges, as well as put forth policy recommendations for the successful integration of the Hmong refugees to our communities.  The commission values your expertise, and we would love to invite some of you to serve on our advisory board, especially those from the Central Valley, such as Peter Vang and Dr. Tony Vang.

The commission looks forward to working with the Legislature, state and local agencies, and the Hmong community to ensure the successful transition of this new population to their new home.
And once again, thanks to the Senate Health and Human Services Committee and the Asian Pacific Islander Legislative Caucus for co-sponsoring today’s hearing.  I would also like to thank the Sacramento Bee for their generously providing the handouts of the special report that they did in September regarding the Hmong refugee resettlement situation in the Central Valley.

Last but not least, I also want to express appreciation to all of the community volunteers who have been part of the planning process to help make today’s hearing a success.  This could not have been done without all of your help.

Thank you very much.
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